## Abstract

In the present era, the hospitality industry has emerged as one of the most recognised industries of the globalised world. There are different categories of the hotels and all of them are targeting specific type of the customers. This is due to the increased demand of the customers that various categories and types of the hotel services have emerged; hence the level of competition has In this situation, it has become imperative for hotels to also increased. develop a large customer base which is loyal to their brand. The loyal customer stays with one brand for a longer period of time. The benefits associated with the customer loyalty are numerous and all of them are remarkable. Therefore, all hotels strive to introduce such programs which could create the loyal customers for them. This research is about the customer loyalty where it is examined that how the customer loyalty could be developed through the marketing strategies. As mentioned previously, there are various categories of the hotels, but it was also observed that luxury hotels are increasing in demand and supply, therefore, this research only focused on the this category. For this purpose, one luxury hotel namely Double Tree by Hotel Hilton has been selected. This research aims to analyse the role of marketing strategy in the customer loyalty of the luxury hotel i.e. Double Tree by Hilton. This hotel's marketing strategies are examined in a great detail. For fulfilling this aim, this research has relied on secondary methods. Through thematic analysis conducted on secondary data, it is concluded that marketing strategies are significant for developing the customer loyalty. At the end, the future research directions are also provided.

Contents

Abstract 2

- 1. Chapter One: Introduction. 1
- 1.1. Background and Rationale 1
- 1.2. Research aim.. 2

- 1.3. Research Objectives. 2
- 2. Chapter Two: Literature Review.. 3
- 2.1. Theoretical Framework. 3
- 2.2. Luxury hotels of U.K. 3
- 2.3. Customer loyalty. 4
- 2.4. Loyalty programs in Hospitality Industry. 8
- 2.5. Importance of Marketing Strategy. 8
- 2.6. 3 Cs in marketing strategy. 9
- 2.7. 3 C's in marketing strategy of Hotels. 9
- 2.8. 4P's of marketing. 10
- 2.1. The impact of marketing strategies on customer loyalty. 11
- 2.1.1. Customer and Customer Loyalty. 11
- 2.1.2. Cooperation and Customer Loyalty. 12
- 2.1.3. Competitor and Customer Loyalty. 13
- 2.1.4. Product and Customer Loyalty. 13
- 2.1.5. Price and customer loyalty. 14
- 2.1.6. Place and Customer Loyalty. 15
- 2.1.7. Promotion and Customer Loyalty. 15
- 3. Chapter Three: Research Methods 17
- 3.1. Introduction. 17
- 3.2. Choice of research design. 17
- 3.3. Construction of the methods. 18
- 3.3.1. Process of collecting secondary data. 18
- 3.3.2. Schematic assessment of secondary data. 18
- 3.4. Sample. 19

- 3.5. Ethical considerations. 22
- 4. Chapter Four: Findings and Analysis. 23
- 4.1. Introduction. 23
- 4.2. Conceptualising 'Luxury Branding' 23
- 4.3. Double Tree by Hilton Hotel A luxury hotel of U.K. 26
- 4.4. 4 P's of Double Tree. 26
- 4.4.1. Product Element of Double Tree by Hilton. 26
- 4.4.2. Place. 28
- 4.4.3. Pricing. 29
- 4.4.4. Promotion. 30
- 4.5. 3C's of Double Tree. 30
- 4.5.1. Customers. 30
- 4.5.2. Corporation. 31
- 4.5.3. Competition. 31
- 4.6. Role of Marketing Strategies in developing Customer Loyalty at Double Tree. 32
- 4.7. Discussion on Analysis. 36
- 5. Chapter Five: Conclusion and Recommendations. 39
- 5.1. Conclusions. 39
- 5.2. Limitations and Future Research Recommendations. 41

References. 43

#### **List of Figures**

Loyalty

#### **List of Tables**

Table 1: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria of Sample. 27

Table 2: Customer loyalty Matrix of Double Tree. 49

## **1.Chapter One: Introduction**

## 1.1.Background and Rationale

In today's world, the hotel industry has been recognised as a global industry as it has the consumers and producers from all over the world. Now, the use of many hotel facilities like night club, rooms, restaurants, health clubs, bars and hotel facilities have become the integral part of lifestyle. Furthermore, in the last few years, there has been observed a significant increase in the demand and supply of hospitality services which has escalated the growth of global hospitality industry. This has also raised the level of competition in the hotel industry. Osman et al., (2009) states that one the most significant challenges for the hospitality industry is about the fast pace and volume of competition which has resulted in three outcomes i.e. increased choice for customers, improved value for money and enhanced level of customer service. Likewise, there are very few factors that could allow distinguishing the offering of one hotel from another. In this situation, to gain a competitive advantage has become of utmost importance for all hotels.

According to Gallo (2012), for gaining the competitive advantage, two commonly used strategies are of low-cost leadership and development of customer loyalty. Low cost leadership is developed through offering price discounting while customer loyalty is developed through offering unique benefits to customers (Graham, 2013). The hotels which opt for the first option encounter the risk of having a negative image in the mind of customers along with low profitability in the long run. In this situation, it is the quality instead of the price which is the important factor for differentiation and customer loyalty. Therefore, the hotel industry strives more for developing the customer loyalty instead of focusing on its pricing strategies. It has been proved by research studies (e.g. Lee et al., 2012; Ou et al., 2014) that a five percent change in the customer loyalty has the potential to bring the increase of twenty five to eight five percent in the profitability of the hotels. This indicates that all hotels must strive for developing the customer loyalty instead of any other aspect. For the survival of hotels, it is imperative to focus on the customer loyalty, otherwise, the sustainability is in danger (Bowen and Chen McCain, 2015). Therefore, the present research focuses particularly of customer loyalty and it analyses how customer loyalty could be developed for the hotels.

It is believed by the hotel managers that they can improve the profitability by having the satisfied clientele but this is not sufficient in today's environment (Fraering and Minor, 2013). Therefore, it is important to focus on the customer loyalty in all marketing efforts of the hotels. As said by El-Manstrly (2016), customer loyalty is more critical for the success of hotels than the other parameters like customer satisfactio as customer satisfaction is part of customer loyalty In this era of tough competition and increased sophistication of customers' demands, it has become more important for marketers to understand the factors which could influence the customer loyalty. Therefore, the present research directly focuses on the customer loyalty to better understand how this could be developed through marketing efforts of the hotels.

Though, there exists all kinds of hotels in the U.K. hospitality industry but as time is passing, customers are becoming more inclined towards the usage of

luxury hotels (Thanh et al., 2015). The role of luxury hotels has become quite dominant in the hospitality industry of the U.K.. There are various aspects which attract the customers towards the luxury hotels. However, it is not fully explored that how and why customers are attracted towards the luxury hotels. From the brand positioning till its marketing strategy, there are various aspects which has influence over the luxury hotels. According to Aaker (2008), the success of luxury hotels is influenced with the marketing strategy. Marketing strategy helps to increase the sales and achieve a long term and sustainable competitive advantage. So taking the perspective of marketing strategy and customer loyalty for hospitality industry, this research focuses on how marketing strategies could help to develop the customer loyalty in the luxury hotels.

## 1.2.Research aim

This research aims to analyse the role of marketing strategy in the customer loyalty of the luxury hotel i.e. Double Tree by Hilton.

## 1.3.Research Objectives

This research has the following objectives:

- 1 To review the literature on marketing strategy and luxury branding
- 2 To construct a definition of luxury brandingand customer loyalty
- 4To critically evaluate the literature on the role of marketing strategy in the customer loyalty.
- 5 To examine the impact of marketing strategy on the customer loyalty of luxury hotels.
- 6 To conclude how marketing strategy and luxury branding could be used by Double Tree by Hilton.

## 2.Chapter Two: Literature Review

## 2.1.Theoretical Framework

The aim of present research is to analyse the role of marketing strategies on the customer loyalty of the luxury hotels. There are various models and theories which falls under the category of the marketing strategies and it is not possible to use all of those model and theories in one research. Therefore, to have a limited scope of this research, the present research focuses on two models on loyalties and marketing theories. In this research, the focus is on examining how the marketing strategy could influence the customer loyalty.

Figure 1: Theoretical Framework

Source: Developed by the author (2016)

## 2.1.Conceptualising 'Luxury Branding'

One of the objectives of this thesis is to present the definition of luxury branding. Therefore, this section fulfils this objective and it analyses various aspects and dimensions of the term 'luxury branding'. According to Dall'Olmo Riley and Lacroix (2003), luxury good is a good whose demand increases more than proportionally as income rises. It is opposite to the necessary food whose demand usually increases less than the increase in income. These luxury goods are also known as Veblen goods and superior goods (Farah and Fawaz, 2016).

As mentioned by MacInnis, Park and Priester (2014), in this globalised world which is highly competitive, luxury brands must have to be in connection with the customers in a creative manner. There are many brands which have become of premium category and they are still targeting the mass market, it has become important for luxury brands to be distinguished from others in a clever manner. As said by Okonkwo (2016), the luxury brands must have the especial mystique and cachet which should differentiate these brands from other brands. Luxury branding is all about being close to the customers and doing those things that they will love.

According to Beverland (2006), in luxury branding, another important dimension is to develop the customised offer with the intention to provide the unique experience to customers. Initially, luxury concept was introduced

where craftsmen were developing the products as per the specifications of the customers. This was something which was quite expensive as compared to the mainstream products and it was only used by those customers who were known as super-wealthy (REF). Therefore, as also demonstrated by Arrigo, (2015), branding of luxury products must incorporate these elements where this customisation must be offered in one way or the other. Through the customisation, luxury brands could distinguish themselves from others and the quality and creativity of the manufacturer could be reinforced only through this customisation (Kapferer, 2015).

Further to this, according to Seo and Buchanan-Oliver (2015), it is of utmost importance that the luxury brands should heighten the sense of emotional connection. The foundation of luxury branding is on sensory branding and it is a commonly used concept in the hospitality industry as well. Therefore, luxury brands must have to strive for building the connections with customers at different levels with the intention to differentiate themselves from the mainstream brands. As discussed by Fionda and Moore (2009), there are numerous examples of such luxury brands which have developed such an emotional connection with the customers and this has helped them to be a successful luxury brand. Eton and Rolls Royce have developed this emotional connection with the customers through the power of scent which they have integrated into their products (Barrett et al., 2015). Though many mainstream brands also use sounds for differentiating themselves, for example Soundwich in Portugal where boxes in which sandwiches are received contain special music that is chosen by the chef within them. In a similar manner, Westin hotel chains have a customised soundtrack which is being offered to provide a relaxed environment to their customers (Chakravarty, 2015). So from these examples and discussion, it becomes observable that luxury branding also involves the process through which the senses are tapped for developing the associations and connections with the customers.

According to Daswani and Jain (2011), the luxury brands must have to present their category in a different manner. For example, Apple took high-tech products and they developed them in a manner that these high-tech products match the lifestyle of customers. Likewise, Starbucks has introduced the coffee through which it has changed the relation of customers with the drinks where now customer do not only visit Starbucks to have some coffee but they visit to have the experience of environment of third home where they can relax and work at the same time (Mitzi, 2015). Similarly, Laduree has taken the inspiration from the connections and they have launched the beauty products which are prepared from almond. Therefore, it is important for the luxury brands to assess whatever they are offered and see how they can present their product or service category in a different manner. For this, they can also take the inspiration from other products and services which are from a different category.

Further to this, Moore and Birtwistle (2005) have stated that the luxury brands must have to immerse their customers in the ethos provided by the particular luxury brand. They need to develop such environment through which the brand's cachet could be crated. This cachet will also help to develop a strong emotional connection with the customers. There are the examples of such brands in the real life. Viktor & Rolf developed an upside-down store in Milan where they proclaimed their anarchic design approach. Likewise, Abercrombie & Fitch has taken help from the mainstream preppy clothing and used them to be dressed up for nightclub experience. Jimmy Choo has created a high tea hotel which the name of Hong Kong's Landmark Oriental Hotel. They develop scones, macaroons and sandwiches in the shape and style of their exquisite handbag and shoe shapes. Bentley Suite was opened up by the super-luxury car brand and it conveyed the special cocooning through the leather and colours which could easily be felt by the passengers and drivers of the luxury car when they visited it (Okonkwo, 2009).

According to Brioschi (2006), another dimension of luxury branding is that its access must be limited. There was a time where logos and labels of the brands were used discreetly but now time has changed and these logos are used for attention grabbing and customers want them to be easily visible such that they could announce the ownership of an expensive item REF. So, such labels must have to be used wisely by the luxury brands. Moreover, as said by Tynan, McKechnie and Chhuon (2010), it must also have to be ensured that the supply of their products is not in access. For example, HermèsBirkin bag has a waiting list of up to five years. Likewise, many high street brands have limited supply. For example H&M always have very limited edition of their products which it creates with the collaboration of famous entities like Marc Jacobs and Karl Lagerfield. This limited supply depicts the exclusivity of the

brands. As observed in the case of fashion show of Tom Ford, there was very limited audience and all of them were personally invited by the phone and there whereno press photographers present (REF). It was being compered by Tom himself while the models of this show were Pals Beyoncé and Julianne Moore. This was quite opposite to the mainstream fashion shows who strive for coverage of maximum media. Truong et al., (2008) suggests that it is with the limited supply that the product or service becomes more valuable. Hence, it could be argued that luxury branding must demonstrate the element of exclusivity through limited supply of the offered products and services.

According to Atwal and Williams (2009), luxury branding must make the products special. There are many luxury brands who have misunderstood this concept and they are moving towards targeted the mass market where they also offer the cheaper lines for having more sales of their products. The true luxury brands have to stand out with the assurance that the quality is always special and high and it should not be within the access of everyone. This exclusivity of brands must have to be communicated to the customers in one way or the other. The purpose of luxury branding should not be only to capture the higher level of sales but this luxury branding is all about developing a deep emotional connection with the customers for their whole life.

On the basis of this discussion about luxury branding, it could be defined in the following manner.

"Luxury branding is the process through which brands could be differentiated from others on the basis of attached mystique and cachet. Luxury branding must provide the customised experience to the customers through which the quality and creativity of the products must be reinforced. It is about developing the emotional connection with the customers and presenting the products and services in a different manner than the mainstream category. Luxury branding immerses the customers in the brand ethos and such brands have the special appeal. Most importantly, luxury branding is about having the control over the supply of the offerings." (Author, 2017).

## 2.2.Luxury hotels of U.K.

According to Dorsey (2015), in the last five years, the hotel industry's performance has remained quite good. Though, the performance of luxury hotels was not encouraging in 2010-2011 due to the economic downturn (Thanh et al., 2015). This resulted in curb spending on travel by the tourists and business persons. However, after 2011-2012 the conditions of the U.K. economy has improved and things have become more favourable (Lai and Hitchcock, 2016). One of the factors has been events like London Olympics which attracted more international and domestic tourists in the United Kingdom. This resulted in the increased demand for hotel accommodation. Other factors like strengthening economy, the Rugby World Cup and the popularity of London as a business and tourists destination has improved the prosperity of luxury hotels of the U.K (IBIS, 2016).

The hotel industry is heavily dependent on capital and labour inputs. As it is a service based business, therefore, the customer service level is considered critical for its success. For attracting and retaining the customers, the quality and level of provided service is considered of utmost importance (Rahimi and Gunlu, 2016). Moreover, this industry demand a large capital base as development of building, vehicles, equipment and other assets need significant investment. Therefore it can be said that success of the luxury hotel industry of U.K. is heavily dependent on customer service skills (IBIS, 2016). Though, this industry is flourishing and lots of luxury brands exist in the hotel industry, there are few theoretical studies conducted on this sector. Examining the prevalent literature, this research also presents the definition of luxury branding for hotels. The present research is also about hospitality industry which is part of service based businesses.

## 2.3.Customer loyalty

The term customer loyalty is defined in a different manner by the marketing experts. According to Wang (2015), customer loyalty is the state where customers start feeling attached so strongly with the particular brand. They start believing that only a particular brand could fulfil their needs and the competitors are virtually out of the consideration set of the customers. The

loyal customers only buy from that particular brand without considering the alternatives. Coelho and Henseler (2012) stated that customer loyalty is when customers come back to the same hotel and they are willing to become a partner of the particular brand by spending more on that brand. According to Czarniewski (2014), in customer loyalty there are two important factors; one is emotional attachment and the other is repeat purchase behaviour. Loyal customers are highly attached to a particular brand so that they make repeat purchases and do not turn to other brands when they have to make a purchase. There are four types of customer loyalties which can be developed for a particular brand. The names of these types of customer loyalties are premium loyalty, inertia loyalty, latent loyalty and no loyalty. These four types of loyalties are plotted on the degree of repurchase and degree of attachment (Tasci, 2016). Figure 2 depicts the loyalties level of customers on the dimension of repeat purchase and relative attachment.

#### Figure 2: Customer Loyalty Model

Source: Tasci (2016)

When there is a high level of attachment and high repeat purchases by a customer, it is known to have the premium loyalty. The firms strive for gaining the level of loyalty as this is the most resistant loyalty against the offerings of the competitors. On the other hand, Duiveman(2016) has presented another type of loyalty which is inertia loyalty and it is quite high on being susceptible to competitors' offerings. This is the loyalty state where customers do have the high level of repeat purchase but there exists no emotional attachment with the brand. Though, it is important to mention that firms' efforts could work well for converting the inertia loyalty into the premium loyalty (Gray et al., 2016). Likewise, Tanford and Baloglu (2013) mentioned that the other type of loyalty is latent loyalty which is the state where customers only make the infrequent purchases but they are strongly attached with the brand. The repeat purchase is not caused by the attitudinal influences but from the situational factors. From this, it could be analysed that marketers first have to find out why their purchase frequency is low. Once found the cause of low purchase frequency, marketers can develop the appropriate strategies for making them loyal. The last type of loyalty is no loyalty where customers are neither emotionally

attached nor they have repeat purchase behaviour. Usually, loyalty programs of hotels are not at all targeted towards this group (Chocarro et al., 2015). Therefore, for the purpose of this thesis, it is only Tasci's (2016) 'premium quality' that will be considered when discussing this concept.

As per definition of Martins Gonçalves and Sampaio (2012), customer loyalty is defined as the state of customers where they are willing for repurchasing of the same brand whenever and wherever possible, they recommend it to other customers and they develop a positive attitude towards the brand. According to Cossío-Silva et al., (2016), the loyalty has two dimensions which are known as behavioural and attitudinal. The behaviour of customers which is depicted through the repeat purchases of particular brand is known as the behavioural dimension of loyalty. Such customers prefer the certain brand over others and they purchase again and again for the same brand. On the other hand, the attitudinal dimension of loyalty is about intention of repurchasing and recommending it to other customers (Bowen and Chen McCain, 2015). The person who has the intention of repurchasing and who keeps on recommending to other customers have higher chances of being retained by the certain brand (Esmark et al., 2016). From this, it could be analysed that both behavioural and attitudinal dimensions of the loyalty are important for marketers. Hence, they strive to develop both dimensions of loyalty in the customers for retaining them for longer period of time

Though, customer loyalty is a separate concept than other variables but the marketing researchers and practitioners has agreed upon the argument that customer satisfaction and service quality are antecedents of the customer loyalty. Another study was conducted by Martins Gonçalves and Sampaio (2012) in a quantitative manner. this study was based on mail surveys and it was concluded the authors that for developing customer loyalty, marketers first has to strive for developing the customer and improving the service quality of their hotels. Moreover, another study was being conducted by El-Manstrly (2016) in which a survey was being conducted where 360 questionnaires were collected. Using the structural equation modelling, it was found by the authors that the role of economical, psychological and technical factors that adversely influence the customers when they switch from one service provider to another are also considered important. In a similar manner,

other pre-requisites for customer loyalty are customer delight, enthusiasm and value (El-Manstrly, 2016).

From this section, it could be analysed that customer loyalty is a state of mind which refers to the associations to a particular brand. The feelings of attachment to a certain brand where repurchasing is certain is the customer loyalty. From the customer loyalty model, it is concluded that there are four types of loyalties. In the present research, the focus will be on premium loyalty only as that is the loyalty in its actual sense. Moreover, loyalty could be attitudinal or behavioural. Basically, customer loyalty is more about purchase intention and recommending to others. Moreover, in customer loyalty role of service quality, customer satisfaction, economical, psychological and technical factors are quite important.

## 2.4.Loyalty programs in Hospitality Industry

This research is about the customer loyalty and trend of using the loyalty programs in hospitality industry is quite obvious, therefore relevance of loyalty programs for this study is high. Loyalty programs refer to the structure strategies of the marketers which are designed to encourage the customers to purchase again from the associated product or service offering company. The loyalty programs of all industries have their own feature generally it refers to the plastic or paper card (like debit and credit card) which is about identity of the card holder (Uncles et al., 2003). Further to this, Evanschitzky et al., (2012) mentioned that these loyalty cards are provided to the frequent purchasers of the brands. It provides the advanced access to customers with new products, merchandise, sales coupon or trail services. Through such programs, information of customers is being taken and this information is used for further marketing and promotional activities. In case of hospitality industry, the importance of loyalty programs is high and they are used on frequent basis.

## 2.5.Importance of Marketing Strategy

Basically, marketing strategy involves both short and long term marketing activities which are linked with the formulation, evaluation and implementation of market oriented strategies. The marketing strategy ultimately helps the companies (e.g. luxury hotels) to achieve their business objectives in an effective manner (Aaker, 2008). The first step is about scanning the business environment where both internal and external environment is scanned to understand the strategic opportunities and constraints. The external environment involves political, economic, technological, cultural and legal aspects. For having a sustainable future, it is important for luxury hotels to grasp the external environmental aspects in an effective manner as this could ensure their future sustainability (Coughlan et al., 2001). Then goals have to be developed which are eventually translated into the marketing strategy where it is decided which actions have to be taken for achieving the objectives. The marketing strategy can cover many years with sub-plans for short term period (Chaffe and Ellis-Chadwick, 2012). However, according to Lin and Wu (2008), with a fast changing external environment, time horizons for marketing plan are becoming shorter. The marketing strategies need to be both interactive and dynamic. Most of the time, marketing strategy and plans are planned but they can also be partially planned in which the uncertain conditions of environment are incorporated. The marketing strategy also sets the foundation for marketing mix where marketing mix modelling is used to allocate the scarce resources in an effective manner. It also involves the performance analysis, competitor analysis, customer analysis and target market analysis. Basically, mainly the marketing strategy helps to make an alignment between the overall objective of the company and marketing objective. With the alignment and consistency among marketing objectives and the organisational objectives, the future development of the luxury hotels improves. This research is going to explore that how marketing strategy is useful for improving the customer loyalty in the luxury hotels.

## 2.6.3 Cs in marketing strategy

As said by Leonidou et al., (2013), there are various strategies which are part of the marketing strategies. There are various ways through which its categorisation is being done. According to Walker et al., (2010), the 3Cs of marketing are Customer, Corporation and Competitors. The 3Cs are important components of effective marketing strategies. Customers are the key to the success of every business; without them, no business can sustain in the market. Therefore, there is a need for continuous efforts for developing and retaining both domestic and international tourists by the luxury hotels. The corporation factor is about maximising the strengths of the business such that the relevant areas of the competition could be influenced by the business for achieving the success in the industry (Angulo-Ruiz et al., 2014). As it is suggested by Walker et al., (2010), the competition level should never be neglected. At all stages i.e. purchase, design, image and maintenance, the competition level should be considered. There must be appropriate marketing strategies for dealing with the existing and potential competition in the market.

### 2.7.3 C's in marketing strategy of Hotels

The 3Cs are important components of effective marketing strategieshence, they must be adopted by luxury hotels for their future development and success. The success of the strategy is dependent on how effectively these 3 Cs are managed by the luxury hotels. Therefore, this research focuses on these 3 Cs of the selected luxury hotel to analyse how marketing strategy has an influence over the customer loyalty. If there is any discrepancy in handling any of the 'C', it can have devastating impact on their future development. Discussing about customers, Hooley et al., (2011) said that as currently, international tourists has reduced their orientation towards U.K. Therefore, there must be extra efforts by the luxury hotels for attracting the international tourists towards them. For this, the needs, demands and wants of the customers should be effectively studied. The marketing strategies should tackle the needs, demands and wants of the customers. As mentioned by Brown et al., (2000), the cooperation is about setting the right focus of the business and designing appropriate strategies, mission, vision and values of the business. For hotels, they must ensure that they keep appropriate focus over their strategies. Moreover, the factor of competition is about considering the strategies of other luxury hotels while designing the strategies. When all three factors are combined and made part of the market strategy, results are

attractive in terms of effectiveness of marketing strategy. Therefore, the combination of 3Cs could be proved helpful for improving the customer loyalty of luxury hotels of U.K.

## 2.8.4P's of marketing

According to Lovelock et al., (2009), as per the marketing mix model, there are 4Ps of the marketing which are named as price, product, place and promotion. These 4Ps help the firms to turn the marketing planning into the action. This marketing mix is helpful for finding and meeting the needs of customers. This could have both long and short term focus. As per the needs of the firms, this model allows the firms to alter the product, price, promotion and price for each offering. In this situation, this marketing mix model helps the luxury hotels to design the marketing mix as per the needs of the international and domestic tourists of U.K. On the other hand, the critical analysis reveals that there also exists the extended marketing mix where there are four more P's, but this research analyses the core P's of the marketing for analysing the influence on the customer loyalty (Lovelock, 2011).

According to the marketing mix model, product refers to the physical object or service which is offered for selling with a set of benefits for the customers which help them to meet their needs. This component of the marketing mix model involves the procedures and policies which are related to the product line, like product design and product quality. Moreover, the research and development about the new product is also part of this component of the marketing mix model.

The component of price is about the procedures and policies which are about the pricing of the product. Moreover, the price maintenance, promotional offers related to pricing, credit, specials and repayment terms and conditions are also part of this component (Mucai et al., 2013). The next component i.e. promotion refers to the all efforts of the marketers which are related to the direct marketing, advertising, promotional work and personal selling for the product. Moreover, the selection of trademarks and branding efforts are also part of this component of the marketing mix model. At the end, place refers to the market coverage, distribution channels, transportation, product inventory and distribution sites. Likewise, the selection of wholesalers and retailers is also covered under the component of place (Fanning and Ogle, 2014). As said by Buttle and Bok (1996) and Stepchenkova (2015) it is important to design all Ps of the marketing mix such that the needs of the customers are fulfilled and marketing objectives are also accomplished. Once, the whole model of marketing mix is effectively applied, it has potential to promote the sustainable future development of luxury hotels in U.K. By this, it could be analysed that importance of 4Ps is undeniable for luxury hotels.

# 2.9.The impact of marketing strategies on customer loyalty

In the above section, it has become clear that the role of marketing strategy is important for the business. Though, marketing strategy could be analysed and studied through various models, the present research has used two models i.e. 3Cs and 4P's. The following section helps to establish the arguments that how marketing strategies are influencing the customer loyalty of the luxury hotels.

#### 2.9.1.Customer and Customer Loyalty

As per 3C's typology of marketing strategy, most important element for every business is its customers. Therefore, every hotel strives to focus on targeting the right kind of customer for its right kind of offerings (Pranata and Skinner, 2015). As it is not possible to target all of the customers at the same time, therefore, hotels are required to target those customers which they believe are more appropriate for their offerings. Once the right segment from the group of customers is targeted, there are better chances to fulfil the needs of the customers such that they are not only satisfied but they are also loyal to the brand (Cui et al., 2015). Harrison-Walker (2010) has conducted a study in which the authors have studies the importance of targeting the right customers. They have explained that it is of utmost importance for all organisations to target the right customers. This particular study was being conducted in another service sector i.e. higher education. They used the survey research strategy where they used the questionnaire for data collection process. The study concluded that to target the right customers is critical for

the success of all organisations. Similarly, the research study conducted by Wu et al., (2005) found that targeting customers is important and they recommended the use of knowledge management and data management techniques to find out the right customers. This study was organised in another service sector i.e. insurance. On the basis of statistical analysis, it was concluded that the techniques like knowledge discovery in data and data mining (i.e. process through which data is converted into valuable information), this can help to increase the loyalty as it could help in targeting the correctly needs of the customers. Therefore, the present research has focus on examining how the rightly targeted customers and their needs could become a source of developing customer loyalty in the luxury hotels. This will be further examined with the respect to the selected luxury hotel case study.

#### 2.9.2.Cooperation and Customer Loyalty

The corporation is never established without taking some key steps. Therefore, when a new service is introduced in the market, it must answer few questions regarding it. These questions are regarding the vision, mission and values of the company (Hollensen, 2015). The strength and weaknesses of the corporation must be analysed appropriately. The corporation must have a focus on certain aspects related to its offered services. As the study of Rust et al., (2004) also proved that it is important to have a focus in the marketing strategy and this help in improving the effectiveness of the marketing efforts. As the present research is about the luxury hotels, so a clear focus on offering the premium service is mandatory for developing the loyalty of customers. Moreover, it must be ensured that strengths of the corporation are used for attracting and retaining the customers. The core values of the brand should be matched with its offerings as this will help to retain the customers and gain their loyalty for a longer period of time (Becker et al., 2016). The research study conducted by Michell et al., (2001) also states that it is important to communicate the core values of the brand and there must be consistency in offerings and core brand values. Their study was conducted on industrial goods sector and that study was based on secondary data. It was concluded that the core brand values must be demonstrated by the efforts of the marketers where alignment with products should not be ignored. As this aspect is not being analysed in the hospitality sector, especially in the luxury

hotels, therefore, the present research examines how this C of Double Tree Hotel is managed effectively for gaining the customer loyalty. Therefore, this research examines how the elements of 'Cooperation' including mission, vision, core values and consistency in them help the luxury brands to retain their customers and for developing the loyalty within them. This will be of significant importance for marketers of luxury hotels, as they will become able to analyse whether or not they need to emphasise the element of Corporation while developing their marketing and branding strategies.

#### 2.9.3.Competitor and Customer Loyalty

Once a firm is in the market, it must have to deal with the competition in an appropriate manner. Every business must be aware of the offerings of its competitors. It must develop its plans after analysing its competitors in an effective manner. The customer loyalty is to gain the attention of customers where the customers consideration set must exclude all the competitors (Rothaermel, 2015). So for excluding the other competitors from the consideration set of the customers, as recommended by Babin and Zikmund (2015), it is of utmost importance for service brands that they should be aware of the fact that what are the current strategies of their competitors and how they are providing value to the customers. If service firms become aware of the strategies of their competitors, only then they could introduce such programs and strategies which are beneficial for gaining the customer loyalty(Zhang and Pan, 2015). It was found by Srinivasan et al., (2002) that many of the loyalty programs are introduced in response to the competitors' strategies. Another study was conducted by Kim and Yoon (2004) on the mobile sector and loyalty of customers for brand loyalty. The research was based on the case study analysis. It was proved that competition is one of the main factors which have helped the mobile brands to improve the loyalty of their customers. Chen et al., (2015) also tried to examine the competition's role in developing customer loyalty. It was found that between process of delivering value to customers and customer loyalty, competition acts as the moderator which means that the strength of the relationship between process of delivering value to customer and customer loyalty may increase with the competition(Chen et al, 2015). The study of Chen et al., (2015) was based on questionnaire data where both employees and customers were the sample of

the study. For analysis of dyad data, statistical tests like logistic regression, ordinary least squares and ANOVA were used. The same study (ibid) also reported that from employees' point of view for the competition level is determinant of the customer loyalty. Analysing the current literature about the competition and the customer loyalty, the present research examines how the Double Tree Hotel is managing/could manage its competitors for developing the customer loyalty. This will be examined in the case of Double Tree Hotel that which competitors are used for developing the customer loyalty. GOOD

#### 2.9.4. Product and Customer Loyalty

In the service business, the product which is offered is the combination of products and services. In luxury hotels, there are various core and supplementary products which are being offered to customers. For gaining the customer loyalty, it is important to deliver the best quality level of the service and products (Lonial and Raju, 2015). As the marketers, this should not be forgotten that only those hotels are able to attract and retain the customers. Therefore, the offered product or service of the luxury hotel must be clearly defined and its quality should be superior. The offered product must fulfil the promise of the customers (Epuran et al., 2015). Moreover, the needs of the customers must be fulfilled through the offered products and services. As highlighted by the study Selnes (2013) that product performance helps in improving the customer loyalty. Otherwise, customers will never come back for repurchasing and it will be impossible to develop the attitudinal and behavioural loyalty in the customers.

#### 2.9.5.Price and customer loyalty

The pricing decision is the most critical one for the service businesses. Whatever the pricing strategy is selected, it must deliver the value to the customers. The pricing strategy must be determined after analysing the willingness and purchasing power of the targeted customers. Otherwise, if prices are set unrealistically then only latent loyalty could be developed where customers show the emotional attachment but they do not depict the repurchase behaviour (Carmen and Marius, 2016). Therefore, the feasibility of pricing must be analysed before offering the products to the customers. As

per the study of Wieseke et al., (2014), it was found that loyal customers expect more discounts. Therefore, if a brand has to attract and retain its loyal customers, it must have to provide them with price discounts. Another study examined the pricing and customer loyalty relationship in the context of the Indian market where the retail banking sector was explored. The research has established that fair pricing strategy leads towards the customer loyalty. The critical analysis shows that this term 'fair pricing' is guite subjective and it may vary customer to customer. But companies must put effort into providing value for the price the customers pay. This will help them in developing the customer loyalty. Furthermore, as highlighted by Wahab et al., (2016), in the case of luxury hotels, service providers are in better position to charge premium prices, however, it should not be forgotten that unrealistic prices could harm the customer loyalty. Therefore, even if one service provider is offering the premium services, it must look at the pricing strategies of its competitors. The present research will analyse that how pricing strategy of the selected luxury hotel is influencing the customer loyalty.

#### 2.9.6.Place and Customer Loyalty

The distribution channel must be selected after considering all important factors like ease and convenience of the customers. The luxury hotels target the business and international tourists, therefore, it is important to ensure that its location is near to those facilities which are demanded by such customers (Sukamto and Lumintan, 2015). Moreover, the decision of placing strategy considers the factor like distributing the service through electronic modes like official website. Therefore, the ease and convenience attached with the official website of the business is also important (Li, Wang and Yu, 2015). This research examines that how the placing strategy of Double Tree Hotel has influence the customer loyalty. Nevertheless, intermediate parties like wholesalers, suppliers and distributors are also important factors of placing strategy, but those are not examined in this research as it can further enhance the scope of this research and it might not be possible to give required attention to all aspects.

#### 2.9.7. Promotion and Customer Loyalty

There are various promotional alternatives that could be adopted for attracting and retaining the customers. The customer loyalty is most frequently developed through promotional programs, therefore, it could be said that there exists direct link of promotional activities of the hotel firm and its customer loyalty level (Sukamto and Lumintan, 2015). But, it must be noted that only those promotional activities are beneficial for customer loyalty which are directed towards developing the customer loyalty. The examples of such activities are the loyalty programs, membership offers and other similar promotional activities. Zakaria et al., (2014) examine the loyalty programs in the retail industry and it was found that the role of loyalty programs is not substantiated and they are not helping in creating loyalty. The reason was that such loyalty cards were not offered by one supermarket but all of the competitors offer similar loyalty cards, hence they were unable to result in any customer loyalty. However, it was found that few unique loyalty programs like Rebate Gift Voucher (i.e. prepaid stored value money card offered by retailers or hotels to their customers to be used as substitute to cash), Shopping Partnership Programs (i.e. systems which are designed for understand the customers, their brand preferences, their shopping and spending habits), Special Price (i.e. the promotional activities where customers are provided special discount offers because of their repeat purchases) and Member's Day(i.e. promotional activities specified for routine or loyal customers on specific days of months and years)helped in improving the customer loyalty. The loyalty programs named Gift Redemption, Magazine and Insurance Coverage has not helped in improving the customer loyalty. Usually, as said by O'Cass and Heirati, (2015), luxury hotels mainly invest their marketing budget on the loyalty programs as they believe that they are quite beneficial, but this still needs the empirical support. It could be analysed that the promotions efforts like loyalty programs must be designed in a unique manner that hotels are differentiated from the competitors. This will help in enhancing the customer loyalty. Therefore, this research aims to examine that how the promotional activities of the Double Tree Hotel are influencing the customer loyalty of this luxury hotel.

## 2.10.Literature matrix

Them Themes e		Description Authors	
1	Customer loyalty	<ul> <li>Attachment to particularWang (2015); Constant</li> <li>Competitors becomeCzarniewski (2014) out of consideration set of customers</li> </ul>	012);
2	Marketing mix	<ul> <li>Product, price, place,Lovelock et al., (20 promotion</li> <li>Mucai et al., 2013)</li> </ul>	•
3	3C's	Customers, competitionLeonidou et al., (20 and corporation Walker et al., (2010)	
4	Customer and custome loyalty	<ul> <li>Target those customersWu et al., (2005) which are appropriate</li> <li>Meet the needs of the customers in a way that they become loyal</li> <li>Use feasible techniques to know the customers right</li> </ul>	015); and
5	Cooperation and custome loyalty	<ul> <li>Vision, mission andMichell et al., (20 values must depictBecker et al., (20 consistency Rust et al., (20 Strengths andHollensen, (2015) weaknesses should be used to develop loyalty</li> <li>Communication of core values</li> </ul>	016);

- 6 Competition and customer loyalty
   Be aware of the waysSrinivasan et al., through which(2002); Rothaermel, competitors are(2015); Zhang and Pan developing customer(2015) loyalty
  - Introduction of loyalty programs in response of competitors
- 7 Product and High quality core andLonial and Raju, customer supplementary products(2015); loyalty develop customer loyalty loyalty
  - Needs must be fulfilled through offered products and services to develop customer loyalty
- 8 Price and Pricing must provideWahab et al., (2016);
   customer value to customers Wieseke et al., (2014);
   loyalty Price must considerCarmen and Marius,
  - Price must considerCarmen and Marius, willingness and(2016) purchasing power
    - More discount pricing develop loyalty
    - Fair pricing develop customer loyalty
    - Only realistic prices develop customer loyalty

9	and customer loyalty	<ul> <li>Direct link amongSukamto and promotional activitiesLumintan, (2015); and customer loyalty Zakaria et al., (2014);</li> <li>Loyalty programs areO'Cass and Heirati, helpful for customer(2015) loyalty</li> <li>Uniqueness of promotional activities especially loyalty programs is helpful for customer loyalty</li> </ul>
10	Place and customer loyalty	<ul> <li>Distribution strategySukamto and which provides easeLumintan(2015); Li, and convenience toWang and Yu (2015) customers develop customer loyalty</li> <li>Electronic distribution should also consider this ease and convenience for developing customer loyalty</li> </ul>

## 2.11.Conclusion

The purpose of this chapter was to review the literature about customer loyalty and understand how it is being influenced by the marketing strategies. This chapter has established that customer loyalty is influenced with marketing mix i.e. price, place, product and promotion and 3C's i.e. customers, competitors and corporation. In this chapter, the linkage between these marketing strategies and customer loyalty is examined, in the light of hospitality industry.

## 3.Chapter Three:Research methods

## 3.1.Introduction

This research is about the marketing strategy of luxury hotels of U.K., where the case study of Double Tree by Hilton Hotel is used for this research. The purpose of this chapter is to devise the research methods for fulfilling the aim and objectives of this research. Mainly, this research analyses how various marketing strategies are helping the Double Tree hotel to develop customer loyalty, therefore, this research uses the secondary methods. This chapter provides rationale of selecting secondary research design where the assessment schematic and sampling methods along with exclusion and inclusion criteria are discussed. At the end of this chapter, ethical considerations of this research are also considered.

## 3.2.Choice of research design

According to Matthews and Ross (2014), there are two alternatives for research design that could be adopted by any researcher. This research has relied on the secondary research design which is common method and it involves relying on the information which is already collected by some other researcher for some other aim and objectives. This research has opted for secondary research design as it is a low cost and quick alternative because it relies on readily available information hence its cost is quite less and it is less time consuming as compared to the primary methods (Seidman, 2013). This research must be completed in a limited time period and it was not a funded research project, therefore, considering the time and budget constraints, this was the most feasible research design. Therefore, for clarifying the research question of present research, this was the most feasible method for the current research.

Another reason for using the secondary data methods is the access of secondary data. With the help of internet technology and digital libraries, it has become easier to access the secondary data. Now, this is not the time where

the researcher has to travel hundreds of miles for collecting secondary data. It has become possible to access the relevant secondary data with one click of button (Silverman, 2013). The ease associated with the access of secondary data has motivated the researcher to answer the research question using the secondary research design. This research was about the Double Tree by Hilton Hotel, and there were many potential difficulties which were attached with the collection of primary data from the selected luxury hotel (Marshall and Rossman, 2014). Moreover, it was not mandatory to collect primary data for answering the research questions of this study. Therefore, the choice of secondary research design was made for analysing the marketing strategies of luxury hotels. Further to this, there was extensive data which was available for this research issue, so it was not required to rely on primary data.

## 3.3.Construction of the methods

#### 3.3.1.Process of collecting secondary data

As per recommendation of Collis and Hussey (2013), this research relies on the secondary methods and this whole processing of using secondary design is based on four stages. First of all, the data related to the subject domain was identified. It was identified that the researcher has to collect the data about the marketing strategy of Double Tree which is a luxury hotel. Moreover, it is also identified that previous studies about customer loyalty and luxury branding has to be analysed for first two objectives. In this stage, it was also decided that from where this data and information has to be acquired. This research has collected the relevant data about Double Tree from online articles, customer reviews, blogs, official reports, journals and books. Once this was decided, the research moved towards the second stage where the actual data was gathered. Majorly, the data is being collected from digital library of UCB. Once the data was gathered, as suggested by Creswell (2013), at the third step, the researcher compared the data which was collected from various sources. The purpose of this comparison was to validate the findings of one secondary source with other. This technique has helped to get the true picture of marketing strategies by luxury hotel brands. At the forth step, the collected data is analysed. For analysing the data, thematic and content analysis is used where the data is read again and again. The collected data is analysed

for common patterns and themes and these themes are used for answering the research questions of this research (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000).

#### 3.3.2.Schematic assessment of secondary data

In this research, following the recommendation of Angen (2000), secondary data is collected but it was not collected without having any criteria. This research has collected the data on the basis of assessment schematic which has guided the decision of researcher to select or reject the data for this research. Using this assessment scheme, the secondary data is being collected for this research.

Objectivenes s	The claims of the authors are checked for the bias and objectiveness. It is ensured that those secondary sources are used for this research in which there is no bias and personal error by the author of the source.
Relevance	Moreover, as suggested by Bryman (2015), the relevance of the source was also a part of the assessment schematic. It was ensured that the selected data is directly relevant to the research issue which is marketing strategies of the Double Tree hotel.
Holistic	The authors' claims were examined for providing a complete picture which means those authors' secondary data is used for this research who have provided both positive and negative aspects of the marketing strategies of Double Tree Hotels. Likewise, other parts i.e. arguments about customer loyalty and luxury branding are also critically analysed to incorporate both positive and negative aspects. As suggested by Bryman and Bell (2015), the secondary sources which were only having one stance i.e. either positive or negative were not considered for this research.

Use o primary method	As the secondary data is about using the primary research studies of the other authors, therefore, the primary data collection procedure of other authors was critically examined. This is not considered a good practice to consider those primary research studies in the secondary studies which has not used the rigorous research methodology. Therefore, the assessment schematic also included the rigorous methods using by other authors.
Rigorous Research Methods	The secondary data is examined for the research methods and it was analysed how rigorously the research study is being conducted. If there was any ambiguity regarding the adopted research methods, the particular source was not considered for this research. The research methods were examined for adopted approach, research strategy, sample size and sampling technique and analysis procedure. If there was problem in any of these elements, that particular research study did not become part of this research.
References and citations	Zikmund et al., (2013) has stated that it is important to use appropriate number of references in one research study. The core studies of the particular discipline must be used and the number of references must be optimal. Therefore, before selecting any secondary source for this research, it was checked whether or not the authors have used optimal number of references and citations in their study. The studies which have used less than 5 citations per page were considered inappropriate for this research.
Customer feedback authenticity	This research also relies on customers' feedback; therefore, it is ensured that those customer reviews are taken which are published by authentic and official sources. Moreover, the recent customer reviews were preferred for this study

Table 1: Assessment Scheme of Secondary Sources

Source: Created by author

## 3.4.Sample

The secondary research study does not use all of the secondary sources which are available on the databases. It is not possible to use each and every secondary source in the research study. Only few of the secondary sources could be used for the research and the selected sources are known as the sample of the study. The sample is selected on the basis of particular exclusion and inclusion criteria. When a particular criterion is developed for a selection of sample, this is known as the purposive sampling method (Bryman and Bell, 2007), hence, the present research has used the purposive sampling method for this research. Other than the above mentioned assessment schematic, following criteria is used for this research. If particular study was considered appropriate as per the following criteria, only then it became the sample of this study.

#### Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria

Relevance to aim and This research is about The secondary sources objectives the marketing strategywhich were about luxury brands.Onlymarketing of strategy of the research studiesluxury brands but were which were about 3C'scovering the aspect and 4P's of marketingother than 4P's and 3C's are being considered forare not considered for this research. this research.

> Further to this, there are The research studies or numerous luxury hotelsecondary sources brands: it was notdiscussing the possible to study all of marketing strategies of Therefore, this luxury hotels other than them. study has only focusedDouble Tree are not on Double Tree hotel.included in this Hence, the relevanceresearch. with the Double Tree hotel another was

criterion for inclusion of secondary sources.

- Year of publishing It is always encouraged If any research study to rely on updatedwas being published secondary sources.before the limit of last 10 Therefore, this research years, then that study has utilised thosewas excluded from this research studies which research. This was are published in last 10being adopted to ensure years. The limit of last10that the present vears was considered research is based on as the inclusion criteria. updated data.
- **Online Access** This research is basedIt was not possible to datavisit physical libraries for on secondary which is collected from accessing the digital libraries like UCBsecondary sources. Due digital library. Thisto time and cost onlylimitation, the resources research has considered thosewhich are only available studies which werein physical libraries are available online. Thenot part of the sample of arethis research. studies which available online are included in the sample of this study.
- Authentic sources This research is basedThe inauthentic and on secondary sourcesunreliable websites are collected throughnot used for accessing authentic sources.It wasthe secondary data for ensured that thosethe present research. websites are used for collecting data which are authentic and reliable.

 Table 2: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria of Sample

## 3.5. Ethical considerations

In this research, secondary data methods are used. As highlighted by Blaxter, Hughes and Tight (2010), usually, the ethical concerns for secondary research design are not severe, but it is still important to ensure that the research is completed in an ethical manner. The secondary data is not misrepresented in any manner. The researcher has avoided its personal opinion and preconceived notions while analysing the collected data. The objective view is being presented in this research. Moreover, the researcher has not presented any data without acknowledging the original author of the data. Using UCB referencing guidelines, proper citations and referencing is being done in this research.

## 3.6.Data Analysis

For analysing the data, thematic analysis is being conducted where the common patterns and themes emerging from data are identified. These patterns and themes are used for answering the research questions of this research. Moreover, while analysing the data, it was ensured that everything is cross referenced to ensure that logical and rigours analysis is performed.

## 3.7.Conclusion

The purpose of this chapter was to explain which methods are being selected for this research for examining the role of marketing strategies in the customer loyalty of Double Tree Hotel. This chapter has provided all details about the selected methods and justification for their selection is also provided. The research relies on secondary data so all necessary details about sample, analysis are provided in this chapter. Moreover, ethical aspects are also discussed.

# 4.Chapter Four: Findings, Analysis and Evaluation

## 4.1.Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to analyse the secondary data which is collected for the purpose of achieving aim and objectives. Mainly, it reviews the marketing strategies and customer loyalty of the Double Tree. At the end, it examines the impact of marketing strategies on customer loyalty.

## 4.2.Double Tree by Hilton Hotel – A luxury hotel of U.K.

This is located in the heart of the central business district among the U.S. Steel Tower and BNY Mellon Complexes. It is in downtown Pittsburgh where it has drive of 25 minutes from Pittsburgh International Airport. It is famous for its convenient location as compared to all of hotels of Pittsburgh. It is a great alternative for family time and it is also a better opportunity for sporting events and city's conventions. It attracts customers with the help of its thoughtful touches and friendly services. From check in to the check out point, it ensures to provide the nicest experience to its customers (Double Tree by Hilton, 2016).

## 4.3.4 P's of Double Tree

As this research considers 4P's for analysing the marketing strategies, therefore, this section critically evaluates the marketing mix / 4P's of Double Tree Hotel by Hilton.

#### 4.3.1.Product Element of Double Tree by Hilton

Like many other luxurious hotels, the products offered by the Double Tree hotel are the deluxe rooms, restaurants and bars. It is not only targeting the leisure travellers but it is also providing solutions for business meetings and events. It attracts both business guests and leisure travellers. Its rooms are designed with the advanced amenities and modern diligence. It offers exotic food along with the drinks in its menus (Visit Bristol, 2016). It also provides free wi-fi to its customers along with the membership discounts and room services. As someone arrives the hotel, he/she is provided with warm welcome from room service personnel along with the unique room facilities and décor (Anonymous, n.d). According to Hoovers (2015), it also has services like audio-visual equipment, meeting rooms, business centres, modems and faxing for its business customers. It provides services like high chair and cribs, babysitting services for attracting the family travellers. It has elevators, newsstand, multilingual staff, laundry, saving deposits, luggage storage and many other services and all of such services are meant for comfort and convenience (Hotel News Resource, 2017).

There are various types of hotel services, the service which is offered by Double Tree is known as 'full service hotel' where it is offering a wide range of services. Its diverse range of services includes facilities of weddings, business meetings and banquet and special events. Further to this, it also provides the services of lounges and restaurants along with the food and beverage services(Fountain, 2016). It also has swimming pools, retail facilities, gift shops and many other miscellaneous services which are offered to the customers. This depicts that it is a full service hotel where a large range of services are being offered (Anonymous, 2015).

Its services are divided into three elements which are named as core, facilitating and enhancing or supporting products.

- Its core products are basic products which are attractive for the customers. Mainly the core products are those which attract customers to this hotel and fulfil their needs. The main reason of visiting the hotel is dealt with the core products of Double Tree Hotel by Hilton. So the hotel rooms of Double Tree Hotel are the core products (Fountain, 2016). The customers visit the Double Tree for staying in these hotels for a particular period of time. Likewise, peripheral services are the additional services and products which are provided to customers for gaining the competitive advantage in the competitive marketplace (Lamb, Hair and McDaniel, 2011).
- Facilitating products are those products which assist or aid the customers for consuming the core products which are offered to the customers. There are various facilitating services which are offered at

Double Tree by Hilton; examples involve bars and restaurants, customer service and online reservation facilities (Walsman et al., 2014). As told by Lovelock (2011), these facilitating services are also known as supplementary services.

- Supporting products are also the additional services and products which are offered for differentiating the services from competitors. These supporting products allow to gain competitive advantage. It offers 24/7 room service to its customers. It provides few magazines and newspapers for business travellers. Moreover, the concierge services are provided to customers (Lamb, Hair and McDaniel, 2011).
- In a similar manner, augmented products are offered to customers as the combination of core and peripheral services. The examples of augmented products offered at Double Tree by Hilton Hotels are luxurious room, exterior designs, membership discounts, relaxed hotel atmosphere and high class restaurants (Byrd, 2016).

#### 4.3.2.Place

The purpose of distribution strategy which is adopted by Double Tree Hotels is to reach the customers. So the placing strategy is about specifying where, when and how the services are being offered to customers. Though, intermediate parties also include in placing strategy but those are not examined here as they are not directly linked with customer loyalty in hospitality industries. Double Tree Hotel by Hilton is located at various locations and territories and it provides the services to its customers in a direct manner where customers directly interact with the service provider which is named Double Tree Hotels by Hilton (Hotel News Resource, 2017). The distribution strategy of this luxurious hotel heavily relies on internet and information technology in various formats. First of all, it is the official website which acts as the effective platform for service distribution. It supplies wide range of capabilities and features where practice assistance is provided to customers through website. The official website allows the customers to book a room, plan weddings and events, schedule meetings and arrange pickups from booking airport (PODI, 2015). Further to this, the mobile friendly applications are used for facilitating the distribution of the services. Double Tree by Hilton Hotels has their own application which is available on iPhone

and Android platforms for the customers of this luxury hotel. Similarly, social media is also used for facilitating the distribution strategy of Double Tree by Hilton Hotels (Lim, 2016). The analysis of distribution and placing strategy of Double Tree tells that the internet platform is being selected by this hotel for providing the services in a convenient manner. It provides the opportunity to its customers to book the services in advance. Moreover, the services could be availed and booked in a quicker manner (Byrd et al., 2016)

While selecting the location, the delight of travellers along with the business destination concerns is examined. It is ensured that hotels are not only near the major vacation spots but it is also ensured that airports are near to the Double Tree by Hilton Hotels. This makes it possible for both business and leisure travellers to access the Double Tree Hotels. The customised needs of the population are also analysed and fulfilled. The location is selected after doing the proper analysis and it is ensured that calmness, peace, beach-side facilities are also available to customers (Fountain, 2016).

It focuses on reverse logistics and inventory management practices as well for ensuring the services and products are delivered to customers in the best possible manner.

### 4.3.3.Pricing

According to Lovelock (2011), there are four categories which could be selected by any organisation. The framework of pricing is also known as the framework which means economy, penetration, skimming and premium pricing strategies. In economy pricing, the products are offered to customers in low budgets. In penetration strategy, higher quality products are offered at the lower prices when compared to the offerings of the competitors. This strategy helps to enhance the market share.

Figure 3: Pricing Strategies Source: Lovelock (2011).

As told by Coughlan et al., (2001), in skimming strategy, higher prices are charged to customers in comparison with the competitors. It is expected that the high price will indicate the exclusiveness and higher quality of the offerings. Likewise, in premium pricing strategy, higher level of quality is offered at higher level of prices, hence the offered services or products are known to be of excellent quality where additional features and characteristics are offered. The majority of rooms of Double Tree by Hilton Hotels are of high quality and they are using the upscale pricing strategies (PODI, 2015). Hence, it is reasonable to classify the offerings of Double Tree as following the premium strategy as it is a luxury hotel and as mentioned in literature review section, luxury hotels follow the premium pricing strategy. Double Tree only has five star and four star rooms and it is able to charge the premium prices to its customers. Other than tangible benefits, it provides intangible benefits like high status, luxuriousness and sense of achievement and these aspects allow this hotel to successfully follow the premium strategy (Ruddick, 2013). From the analysis, it can be observed that a well-researched approach is used for its pricing strategy. It does not provide the stay and dinning services, rather it sells the sense of status and luxury which tells that it is effectively priced. It also takes help of price flexibility and seasonal pricing strategies and this enables this hotel to be fair with the prices all over the year (Garrido, 2014).

#### 4.3.4. Promotion

It uses the unique promotional activities which are helpful for differentiating it from other competitors. It offers exclusive membership to its customers. The marketers of this hotel strive to enhance the experience of customers through their well-designed promotion strategies. It is said by Hoover (2016), that it keeps a strong record of its marketing strategies by using the feedback of promotional efforts. It also modifies its strategies as per the feedback and performance record. It has a dedicated team working on promotional strategies. Majorly, internet is used for its promotional efforts. However, public relations and publicity techniques are also used to promote its products and services (Euromonitor, 2013). This hotel has also started various loyalty programs which are helping it to improve. It offers membership offers and rebate gift vouchers to its customers. The member's day is also celebrated in this hotel where customers get one day in month in which very attractive promotional offers are given to them. The purpose of these promotional activities is to enhance loyalty of their customers (Fountain, 2016).

### 4.4.3C's of Double Tree

### 4.4.1.Customers

It targets the needs of customers in various manners. It has analysed what is required by the targeted customers. Hence, it introduces the strategies as per the needs of the customers which are targeted by this hotel i.e. affluent customers visiting from other countries or cities. It has set the sales targets and to achieve those targets, it continuously introduces time bound offers which are helping it to reach the desired targets of the sales. It is using well written catalogues and purpose of these catalogues is to provide detailed information about the offered services. Moreover, it offers the customer care services to retain the customers for longer period. It has employed well-established and fully groomed and developed staff which is hired for providing the best possible services to the customers. Through its customer services, it tries to achieve the customer loyalty (Shetty, 2010). The target market is continuously communicated about the services which are offered to the business person, families, tourists and delegates going for vacations. Following its effective communication strategy, it remains in contact with their customers in a continuous manner. It strives to ensure that needs of the customers are fulfilled in an effective manner (Leonardo, 2015). Any links?

### 4.4.2.Corporation

It has a wide range of contemporary upscale accommodations which are spread in 240 cities, vacation destinations and metropolitan areas worldwide. The Double Tree hotels are especially designed for providing the actual comfort to its leisure and business travellers. It strives to provide the satisfying stay to all the guests who visit this hotel. It is located in various places as it is having more than 450 hotels and resorts. At all of its hotels, its aim is to create meaningful moments for its customers (Double Tree by Hilton, 2016). It is a major service provider which has branches and hotels and resorts all over the world. It is continuously expanding with the intention to increase the market share. It is spread in a wide range of regions, hence, its loyal customers prefer to select the same hotel over different territories when they move around. It has employed the highly trained and professional staff which helps it to further work on the mission and vision of this hotel (Leonardo, 2015). LINKS

### 4.4.3.Competition

While discussing about pricing strategies, Nikitenko (2014) suggeststhat Double Tree uses competitive pricing where it is observes that what is being done by their competitors. Likewise, it also follows the strategy of its competitors for its promotional efforts even it benchmarks their promotional efforts. As said by Hoovers (2016), it is of utmost importance to know what is being done by the competitors at a particular time and place. Competitors are also an asset for the businesses. Its most direct competitors are International Hotels Group Plc., Marriot International Inc., and Radisson Hotels Internationals Incas they are also the premium hotels of U.K. and they also target the same customers which are targeted by Double Tree. Double Tree by Hilton Hotels keeps an eye on the strategies of its competitors. Through its business intelligence program, it obtains the maximum information about their competitors and it modifies its strategic moves as per the strategies of competitors. It is believed by the top management of Double Tree that it is of utmost importance to consider the competitors as close partners and learn from their strategies(Pigden, 2015). The internet is used heavily by its business intelligence team to analyse the strategies of the competitors (Saker-Clark, 2016). It is having a healthy competition where luxurious hotels are learning from each other and they are modifying their strategies for gaining the loyalty of their customers. This competition which is helping this hotel to manage their loyalty programs eventually helps out in developing a large base of loyal customers.

4.5.Role of Marketing Strategies in developing Customer Loyalty at Double Tree

According to O'Neill and Xiao (2006), marketing is the most important strategy for any business, so it is for Double Tree by Hilton Hotel. It keeps it focus on specifying the available services such as accommodation services, transportation and communication for providing the clear picture to its targeted Through its marketing strategies, customers are able to customers. understand the vision, purpose and direction of this hotel. Its marketing efforts are directed towards giving the picture of providing best services and hospitality. Its marketing efforts are aimed to differentiate the services from other hotels. It has employed adequate and highly expert marketing staff who are responsible for designing and implementing the marketing strategies. According to Business Wire (2010), themarketing strategies of Double Tree are continuously monitored to ensure that they are achieving the objectives. Though, it tries to get the feedback of its customers and it also tried to incorporate their feedback in its marketing strategies, the below section analyses how the marketing strategies of Double Tree are helping to gain the customer loyalty. It continuously responds to the needs of customers with the intention to fulfil their needs and develop a better relationship with them. The below section is analysing the customer feedback available on official and authentic websites regarding the services of Double Tree (Leonardo, 2015). This section will also analyse which aspect of marketing has lead towards the particular feedback from customers.

The overall the customer loyalty at Double Tree, the below figure represents the overall rating of this hotel as per the reviews of its customers.

Figure 4: Traveller Rating of Double Tree

Source: Trip Advisor (2016)

From the above given figure, it could be analysed that the majority of customers have rated it as 'very good'. There were 1230 customers who said it is a very good hotel for their stay. After this, 990 customers have rated it as 'excellent'. This shows majority of the customers of Double Tree are satisfied and loyal with this luxury hotel.

Further to this, the below figure represents the satisfaction of all customers collectively from various point of factors. It could be observed that majority of customers has given it good rating for its cleanliness, customer service and food quality.

Figure 5: Customer Reviews

Source: Late Rooms (n.d.)

However, from the above results it could not be ignored that there are customers who were not loyal or satisfied, hence, while reviewing the customers' feedback, both positive and negative comments are considered.

For analysing the customer loyalty at Double Tree, the feedback of customers is analysed. From the official website, it was found that one customer mentioned that it is the one of the best hotels in the city of Pittsburgh. It was said as the most favourite hotel due to its convenience attached with it. For sports and social events, this was liked by the customer. It was mentioned that its staff and management is quite accommodating. The quality of food and interior design was highlighted as good where the staff is said to be attentive and friendly (Toik, 2016)which is part of the product in marketing mix strategy. One of the customers mentioned that its price and value does not match. It was mentioned by the customer that its price per night is \$300 but it's worth is only \$125 (Wjohnb, 2016). This response of the customer highlights that this particular customer was not satisfied with the marketing strategies. To be particular the pricing strategy is the problematic and as per 4P's of marketing strategy, the pricing strategy must focus on the value which will be provided.

Another customer mentioned that the staff of hotel is great and its location is quite convenient and it is quite clean hotel. He mentioned that he stays there a lot. The public transportation access is also very easily available. It has walking distance from all major companies. This is part of placing strategy in marketing mix that location of hotel must offer conveience to customers. This customer also mentioned that he has the loyalty program membership and it helps it to gain the maximum advantage from the services of this hotel (Greenwood, 2016). This customer response highlights the effectiveness of the placing strategy of Double Tree Hotel. From this response, it could also be analysed that customer loyalty exists as the customer mentioned that he stays there a lot.

Another customer highlighted again that staff of Double Tree is great, but its product needs significant attention which is not being provided by the marketers. The design of rooms is great however the floor plan is following quite traditional and old style. It seems like the same room which was being visited five years ago by the customer. Though few aspects of the rooms are modified but majorly changes are not being made in the last five years. It was mentioned by the customer that switch covers were not at all changed and they were quite old. It was being mentioned by the customer that there was smoke in hallway and the room was quite dirty (Ferriswitt, 2016). As per the marketing mix strategy, the product strategy must be focusing on offering those products or services to customers, which fulfils the needs of customers. This highlights that there is a need for doing improvements in the product strategy. These all problematic areas highlighted by this customer are components of the product strategies. This depicts that the product strategy needs refinement.

According to Motclain (2015), the stay for wedding was above expectation and customer found that lobby is gorgeous and it was mentioned as that there is a need for refurnishing the rooms. It was also highlighted that rates were high due to the corporate policy of this hotel. This feedback comment of the customer is depicting that the product and pricing strategy needs to be revisited as marketing mix theory says that product should be focusing on needs of customers while pricing must be as per the value delivered to customers. Doreen (2016) mentioned that it provides excellent service and its rooms are spacious and beautiful. This customer also appreciated the professionalism and friendliness of staff. The onsite of Double Tree is also liked by the customers. Moreover, it has close proximity to other nice restaurants which has made it more attractive for travellers who like to visit various places when they are staying in a particular hotel. Its location is guite convenient. Its attached convenience store is also source of satisfaction for customers. From this, it could be analysed that Double Tree has the effective placing and distribution strategies as marketing mix strategies tell that should be considered while selecting the location of convenience

hotels.Moreover, its employees and staff are quite professional and these aspects are helping this luxury hotel to attract and retain customers.

Ujohnm (2016) said that Double Tree is a nice place to stay but its cost is not worth to pay. Usually, it is important to provide the services which depict the core values of the brand. The present response of this customer shows the core value of luxury hotel is not communicated through its products and services, hence, the focus on 'corporation' is missing where this brand is unable to work on its core values, mission and vision. This is said in 3C's strategies that vision, mission and core values must be delivered through the offering (Babin and Zikmund, 2015). The same customer further mentioned that for experiencing Pittsburgh and attending the football game, this customer was attracted towards this hotel. It was told by the customer that hotel garage was great and rooms were clean. However, there was element of discomfort which was attached with the bed. The price paid for the services was not matched with the value which was provided to this customer. From this response, it could again be analysed that customer found problem in product and pricing strategy. Perhaps, the loyalty of customers is influenced with the bad impact of pricing and product strategies from the marketing mix of Double Tree.

Another customer mentioned that he experienced the bad stay in this hotel. The quality was low and building is poorly constructed. Walls are thin like papers as conversations could be hear from other rooms. Likewise, there was noise in the hallway which disturbed this customer (William, 2016). It could be analysed that there was problem in providing the customers what was demanded by them. Their needs are not effective targeted. Therefore, there is a problem in managing the 'Customer' which is part of 3C's strategies of Double Tree.

According to Hnob (2016), the Double Tree hotel has a desired level of comfort and it has easy walk to football stadium. It was quite easy to access the football stadium from this hotel. The customer mentioned that if even he has to come again for sports tourism he will prefer this hotel as its location is very attractive for him. This response also highlighted the effective placing strategy of Double Tree hotel. From this, it is reasonable to state that its placing strategy is helping it to obtain the loyalty of its customers.

According to Phillips (2016), this hotel is an amazing hotel which provides the value for the money, it charged £100 for room for two people and it provided the value which was being expected from that. The staff of hotel was quite polite and helpful. Its food quality was good and location is attractive which is about placing strategy in marketing mix (Hollensen, 2015). This has led to this customer to return to the same hotel again.

Fiona (2016) has highlighted various aspects of this hotel which depicts her satisfaction and dissatisfaction from distinct elements of 4P's and 3C's. Like other customers, it staff is appreciated for its efficiency, excellence and friendliness. But it was highlighted that the level of its room and service was not like four star hotels and this is the aspect of product strategy (Hollensen, 2015). At the advertisement given on Facebook and its official website, different expectations were being developed but these are not being delivered. This shows that core values of the luxury hotel are communicated but these are not reinforced through its services and products which is part of 3C's strategies of the marketing (Mullin, Hardy and Sutton, 2014). It charges the price of luxury hotels but it is somehow unable to provide the core brand value of luxury hotels.

Wishart (2015) said that initially on arrival, the hotel's reception was quite clean and attractive, staff is welcoming and friendly. But room size is not as per expectations. Room was dirty and it was not comfortable. It is a luxury hotel, but its services and products were not up to the standard as luxury branding mainly focuses on providing the best possible services and this has resulted in sheer disappointment. This hotel has remained unable to provide the standard services which must be provided by luxury hotels. This is highlighting that the hotel is unable to deliver what is promised as per the core values of this brand. This shows that 'corporation' strategy is not effectively managed and implemented.

### 4.6.Discussion on Analysis

For further analysis of the customer review, the following matrix is developed on the basis of information gathered from various secondary sources.

For final hand in please colour code these P's, C's and analysis otherwise it all looks the same!

Themes from the customer reviews	4 P's	3 C's	Analysis	
It has become best due to its convenientPlacing Customers Effective location				
Location is quite convenient	Placing	Customers	Effective	
Public transportation is easily accessible	Placing	Customers	Effective	
It is located quite near the football stadium	Placing	Customers	Effective	
It has walking distance from all majo companies	rPlacing	Customers	Effective	
Attractive for sports persons due to its location	sPlacing	Customers	Effective	
Its staff and management is accommodating	sProduct	Corporation	Effective	
Staff of hotel is great	Product	Corporation	Effective	
It has attentive and friendly staff.	Product	Corporation	Effective	
The interior design is liked by customers	Product	Customers	Effective	
It has attached convenient store	Product	Customers	Effective	
It is quite clean	Product	Customers	Effective	
Products are not provided significant attention	tProduct	Customers	Ineffective	
Hotel reception is clean	Product	Corporation	Effective	
Room design is great	Product	Corporation	Effective	
Room was dirty and uncomfortable	Product	Corporation	Ineffective	
Floor plan is not modern	Product	Corporation	Ineffective	
Smoke in hallway and rooms are dirty	Product	Customers	Ineffective	
Lobby is gorgeous	Product	Corporation	Effective	
Rooms need renovation	Product	Corporation	Ineffective	

Rooms were not comfortable	Product	Customers	Ineffective	
Service is excellent	Product	Customers	Effective	
It has spacious and beautiful rooms	Product	Customers	Effective	
Building is poorly constructed.	Product	Corporation	Ineffective	
Its walls are thin, like there is no or little privacy	eProduct	Customers	Ineffective	
Food quality was good	Product	Customers	Effective	
Hotel did not provide the expected serviceProduct level.		Corporation	Ineffective	
Staff was quite helpful	Product	Corporation	Effective	
Staff is professional and friendly	Product	Corporation	Effective	
Loyalty program membership helps to gainPromotio Customers Effective the maximum advantage from the servicesn of this hotel				
At the advertisement given on FacebookPromotio Competitors Effective and its official website it is advertised as an luxury brand which differentiates it from others				
Price and worth do not match	Pricing	Customers	Ineffective e	
It charged £100 for room for two and Pricing Competition Effective provided the expected service for money charged hence competitors will not be preferred in future.				
Cost not matched with value	Pricing	Corporation	Ineffective	
Price and value does not match	Pricing	Corporation	Ineffective	
Table 3: Customer loyalty Matrix of Double Tree				
Source: developed by the author (2017)				

The purpose of this matrix is to examine which of the elements from 4P's and 3C's need to be further improved for enhancing the customer loyalty. The first column of this table is identifying the themes which have been emerged from the secondary data collected through the customer reviews. The second column identifies the relevance of the customer response with one of the strategies from 4 P's (i.e. price, place, product and promotion). This is specifically reviewing the linkage of customer loyalty with marketing mix, as discussed in literature review. The third column relates the response with one of 3C's strategies (i.e. customers, competitors and corporation) as discussed in literature review that these 3C's have a linkage with customer loyalty. The forth column simply summarises the analysis in one word i.e. effective or ineffective. If the particular strategy is implemented correctly that it is leading towards the customer loyalty, it is declared 'effective' and vice versa. From the analysis, it could be observed that this hotel has effectively implemented the placing strategy. The convenience which is attached with the location of this hotel is attracting many customers and this is also helping these customers to become the loyal customers of this brand. It could be analysed that the product strategy has mixed results where few of its aspects are effective while others are ineffective. For example, its rooms are not always clean and comfortable while there is smoke in the lobby. This tells that its product strategy is not effective which is causing the trouble for customer loyalty. On the other hand, few of the aspects are managed well, as their staff is quite professional and providing excellent customer service and this is helping this hotel to increase the customer loyalty. Moreover, the promotional strategy is effective to some extent as it is communicating the core values but this is not being delivered to the customers hence the delivery of the service must be improved. Further to this, there is a problem in its pricing strategy as customers have complained that the value for money is not being provided to them. Moreover, the analysis of 'customers' tell that majority of the needs of the customers are effectively managed, but this hotel lacks in few areas. Likewise, the 'corporation' is also managed appropriately but it needs further improvement. The importance of managing 'competition' is not dominantly highlighted through this research. So from the overall results, it could be concluded that marketing mix and 3C's are important for developing the customer loyalty.

# 5.Chapter Five: Final Discussion, Conclusion and Recommendations

I would prefer this section to reflect and be structured around your objectives. This would tehn demonstrate exactly what you have achieved.

Links to theory and earlier discussions still required

### 5.1.Conclusions

Through the analysis conducted about marketing strategies of the Double Tree Hotel and its impact on customer loyalty, following conclusions are provided. There were four objectives of this research and all of them are successfully accomplished. First objective was to review the literature on marketing strategy and luxury branding. This objective is being accomplished in the second chapter of this dissertation. The second objective of this research is to construct a definition of luxury branding. This objective is accomplished in second chapter of this dissertation where definition of luxury branding is being presented. The third objective is to critically evaluate the literature on the role of marketing strategy in the customer loyalty and this is also accomplished in second chapter where association among marketing strategy and customer loyalty is examined. The fourth objective is to examine the impact of marketing strategy on the customer loyalty of luxury hotels and to conclude how marketing strategy and luxury branding could be used by Double Tree by Hilton. This objective is attained in the fourth chapter of this dissertation where analysis of marketing strategies of Double Tree is conducted and it is examined how it is leading towards the Double Tree.

1. Luxury branding is defined as a process for developing differentiated, special and customised experience through

## emotional connection could be developed with the brand ethos and supply of products could be controlled.

As a result of the secondary research the following definition about luxury branding is provided by the author. Luxury branding is the process through which brands could be differentiated from others on the basis of attached mystique and cachet. Luxury branding must provide the customised experience to the customers through which the quality and creativity of the products must be reinforced. It is about developing the emotional connection with the customers and presenting the products and services in a different manner than the mainstream category. Luxury branding immerses the customers in the brand ethos and such brands have the special appeal. Most importantly, luxury branding is about having the control over the supply of the offerings.

## 1. Price, promotion, place and pricing strategies are important for developing customer loyalty for luxury hotel brands.

It is clearly known that the majority of customers are loyal to this hotel brand, therefore, the strategies which are effectively implemented are considered as the reason of this customer loyalty. It has been observed that its placing strategy is quite effective and it could be declared as the most important effective marketing strategy which has converted its customers into the loyal customers. It is preferred by the customers owing to its convenient location. It is placed at that location where public transport is easily accessible. Moreover, all of major companies are from walking distance of this hotel. Moreover, it is attractive for sports persons as it is near to the sports stadium as well. From this, it becomes obvious that it is attractive for both business class and leisure class travellers due to its effective placing strategy.

Further to this, it is found that product strategy is also leading towards the customer loyalty. The customers who were loyal have appreciated the product and service quality while the customers were not satisfied and loyal has complained about the quality of products and services. It is concluded that its staff and management of Double Tree is accommodating, they treat customers in a friendly manner, provides excellent service, they are professional. Moreover, the interior design in good and liked by customers. Hotel reception is clean. Room design is great and lobby is gorgeous. It has

spacious and beautiful rooms. However, there was problem in design and cleanliness of the rooms as well. All of its products (including core and supplementary) are not provided equal attention. Therefore, there were few customers who were not satisfied with services. From this it could be concluded that with the help of effective product strategy, customer loyalty could be developed.

Further to this, promotion which is done through social media, internet and loyalty programs is also important for developing the customer loyalty. But this must have to be ensured that whatever is being communicated through the promotional tools must be delivered to customers. So if there is consistency in the promotional strategy and delivery of those promised level of product and service quality, then the customers' loyalty could be developed. This should not be forgotten that in case of mismatch this could hurt the customer loyalty severely therefore the alignment must exist. Furthermore, it is also concluded that pricing of the luxury hotels must match the services and products which are delivered to customers. Double Tree Hotel is facing the problem of customer loyalty owing to its mismatch in its prices and value delivered to customers. Therefore, if this brand has to increase its customer loyalty, it needs to ensure that it provides the value for money. The luxury branding is not all about over-charging; it is about providing the value to the customers. Therefore, pricing strategy of this luxury hotel must be effective if the firms have to develop the large base of loyal customers.

## 1. Customers, corporation and competitors are important for developing customer loyalty in the respective ranking.

All 3C's are important to developing the customer loyalty for the luxury brands. But this research has found that 'Customers' is most important element. For having the loyal customers, luxury hotels must have to fulfil the needs of the targeted market, if their needs are not fulfilled then they can never be loyal to them, irrespective of any loyalty programs started by the hotels. It is analysed that this hotel is fulfilling the needs of customers by providing the convenience to both leisure and business travellers due to its location. Customers prefer friendly, hospitable, accommodating and professional staff and this is being offered at this hotel, which has led towards the customer loyalty. However, few of the needs of the customers are not fulfilled like quality food and cleanliness. With the improvement in this strategy which focuses on targeted customers,

the customer loyalty of Double Tree hotel could be improved. Corporation is also important but less than 'Customers'. For the case of luxury hotels, it is important to only have those employees which could work on the mission and core values of the organisation. Moreover, the product quality needs to be high. It was found that customers of Double Tree complained and showed dissatisfaction from the design of the rooms. So, rooms which are one of the core products of the luxury hotels must be managed effectively, in terms of their design, cleanliness, spaciousness and floor plan. This could further enhance the customer loyalty. Another important aspect of 'corporation' is that the core values must be delivered in a visible manner to have the loyal customers. There were few customers who complained about the mismatch which exists in this four star hotel and its service. So the luxury brands like Double Tree are obliged to communicate the core values through their service. To manage the 'competitors' is relatively less important than the other two C's. The purpose is to differentiate from the offerings of the competitors which could effectively be done if focus is on first 2 C's. Therefore, it is concluded that though all 3C's are important but rank of their importance is Customers, Corporation and Competitors hence these must be considered by Double Tree by Hilton if it wants to increase customer loyalty.

## 5.2.Limitations and Future Research Recommendations

In this research, there were few limitations which could not be ignored. This research is being completed in the limited time period and with limited budget, therefore, certain limitations were encountered while completing this research. The research quality could has been further enhanced with the use of mixed methodology where both quantitative and qualitative data is used. But due to the accessibility of quantitative secondary data, it was not possible to select this research methodology. But it is recommended to future researchers that they should organise the similar study with the mixed research methods. This will further enhance the practical utility of the research. Further to this, this research is about luxury branding in hotels but it has selected the Double Tree by Hotel Hilton as the case study. Therefore, its findings are specific to the context of this particular hotel. Before transferring the results to other luxury

brands, its context cannot be ignored. It is recommended to future researchers that they should use the other luxury hotels which are from different context. It is recommended to take the luxury hotels from developing countries as it is expected that luxury branding will work differently in the developing countries. For the purpose of analysis, this research has relied on two frameworks i.e. 4P's and 3C's. Other than these two frameworks, there are also many other marketing strategies' frameworks and theories, the researchers are recommended to add more frameworks and examine the marketing strategies' through a different perceptive.

Any specific recommendations to Double Tree?

Overall some very good work, however, greater linkages to theory and your literature review discussion are required.

Please see my comments around the restructuring required – objective 2 must be embedded into your lit review.

Methodology needs primary analysis of secondary data procedures included.

Keep going you are nearly there!

I cannot read any more of your work until final hand in now however you can email me questions if required.

Good luck

## References

Aaker, D.A., (2008) Strategic market management. John Wiley & Sons.

Angulo-Ruiz, F., Donthu, N., Prior, D. and Rialp, J. (2014). The financial contribution of customer-oriented marketing capability. <u>Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science</u>, Vol. 42, No. 4, pp.380-399.

Anonymous, n.d.<u>Doubletree by Hilton Upscale hotels and resorts</u>, [Online], Available https://www.entrepreneur.com/franchises/doubletreebyhilton/284273 [Accessed on: 25th December, 2016]

Anonymous (2015). <u>Competition hotter in hotel brand-conversion market</u>, [Online], Available at: http://therealdeal.com/miami/2015/10/25/competition-hotter-in-hotel-brand-con version-market/ [Accessed on: 21st December, 2016]

Alvesson, M., and Deetz, S. (2000). <u>Doing Critical Management Research</u>. London: Sage.

Angen, MJ. (2000). Evaluating interpretive inquiry: Reviewing the validity debate and opening the dialogue. Qualitative Health Research, Vol. 10, No. 3, pp. 378-395.

Arrigo, E., 2015. The role of the flagship store location in luxury branding. An international exploratory study. <u>International Journal of Retail & Distribution</u> <u>Management</u>, Vol. 43, No. 6, pp.518-537.

Atwal, G. and Williams, A. (2009). Luxury brand marketing-the experience is everything!. Journal of Brand Management, Vol. 16, No. 5-6, pp.338-346.

Babin, B.J. and Zikmund, W.G. (2015). <u>Exploring marketing</u> <u>research.</u>Cengage Learning.

Barrett, M., Davidson, E., Prabhu, J. and Vargo, S.L. (2015). Service innovation in the digital age: key contributions and future directions. <u>MIS</u> <u>quarterly</u>, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp.135-154.

Becker, S.P., Leopold, D.R., Burns, G.L., Jarrett, M.A., Langberg, J.M., Marshall, S.A., McBurnett, K., Waschbusch, D.A. and Willcutt, E.G., (2016) The internal, external, and diagnostic validity of sluggish cognitive tempo: a meta-analysis and critical review. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, Vol.55, No. 3, pp.163-178.

Beverland, M., 2006. The 'real thing': Branding authenticity in the luxury wine trade. <u>Journal of Business Research</u>, Vol.59, No. 2, pp.251-258.

Blaxter, L., Hughes, L. C., and Tight, C. M. (2010). <u>How to Research</u>, 4th edition, Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Bowen, J. T., and Chen McCain, S. (2015). Transitioning loyalty programs: A commentary on "the relationship between customer loyalty and customer satisfaction" <u>International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management</u>, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp. 415-430. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-07-2014-0368

Brioschi, A. (2006). Selling dreams. Brand culture, p.177.

Brown, J. R., Dev, C. S., and Lee, D. J. (2000). Managing marketing channel opportunism: the efficacy of alternative governance mechanisms. <u>Journal of Marketing</u>, Vol. 64, No. 2, pp. 51-65.

Bryman, A. (2015). Social research methods. Oxford university press.

Bryman, A. and Bell, E., (2015). <u>Business research methods.</u> Oxford University Press, USA.

Bryman A., and Bell E (2007). <u>Business Research methods</u>, 2nd edition, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Byrd, E.T., Canziani, B., Hsieh, Y.C.J., Debbage, K. and Sonmez, S. (2016). Wine tourism: Motivating visitors through core and supplementary services. <u>Tourism Management</u>, Vol. 52, No. 2, pp.19-29.

Business Wire, 2010. <u>DoubleTree by Hilton Introduces New Global Brand</u> <u>Identity</u>, [Online], Available at: http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20101013006525/en/DoubleTree-Hil ton-Introduces-Global-Brand-Identity#.VJRkb14AAA [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Buttle, F. and Bok, B. (1996) Hotel marketing strategy and the theory of reasoned action. <u>International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality</u> <u>Management</u>, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp.5-10.

Carmen, R. and Marius, S., (2016). Customer Loyalty Using Customer Relationship Management. <u>Management Strategies Journal</u>, Vol.31, No. 1, pp.285-288.

Chaffey, D., & Ellis-Chadwick, F. (2012). <u>Digital marketing: Strategy</u>, <u>implementation and practice (5th ed.).</u> Harlow: Pearson.

Chakravarty, S.M. (2015). Sensory Branding: Branding with Senses. In <u>Cases</u> on Branding Strategies and Product Development: Successes and Pitfalls (pp. 327-365). IGI Global.

Chen, S.C. (2015). Customer value and customer loyalty: Is competition a missing link?. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, Vol. 22, pp.107-116.

Chocarro, R., Cortiñas, M., and Villanueva, M. L. (2015). Customer heterogenity in the development of e-loyalty. <u>Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing</u>, Vol. 9, No. 3, 190-213.

Coelho, P. S., &Henseler, J. (2012). Creating customer loyalty through service customization. <u>European Journal of Marketing</u>, Vol. 46, No. <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>, pp. 331-356. doi:10.1108/03090561211202503

Collis, J., and Hussey, R. (2013). <u>Business research: A practical guide for</u> <u>undergraduate and postgraduate students.</u> London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Cossío-Silva. F., Revilla-Camacho, M., Vega-Vázguez, М., & Palacios-Florencio, B. (2016). Value co-creation and customer loyalty. Journal Vol. 69, No. 1621-1625. Business Research, 5, of pp. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.028

Coughlan, A.T., Anderson, E., Stern, L.W. and El-Ansary, A.I. (2001). <u>Marketing channels (Vol. 6</u>). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Cui, G., Wong, M.L. and Wan, X., (2015). Targeting high value customers while under resource constraint: partial order constrained optimization with genetic algorithm. Journal of Interactive Marketing, Vol. 29, pp.27-37.

Creswell, J. W. (2013). <u>Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed</u> <u>methods approaches</u>. New York City: Sage publications.

Czarniewski, S. (2014). building customer loyalty on the polish market. <u>Economics & Sociology</u>, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp.208.

Dall'Olmo Riley, F. and Lacroix, C., (2003). Luxury branding on the Internet: lost opportunity or impossibility?. <u>Marketing Intelligence & Planning</u>, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp.96-104.

Daswani, A. and Jain, V., 2011. Understanding luxury branding: a conceptual framework. <u>Media Asia</u>, Vol. 38, No. 3, pp.131-139.

Duiveman, A. (2016). <u>When loyal customers turn into hateful enemies</u>, Master's thesis, University of Twente

Doreen, S., (2016). <u>DoubleTree Downtown Pittsburgh</u>, [Online], Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html Accessed on: 26th December, 2016]

Dorsey, K. (2015, ). <u>Hotel industry takes a breather as scots growth lags rest</u> of UK. The Scotsman

El-Manstrly, D. (2016). Enhancing customer loyalty: Critical switching cost factors. Journal of Service Management, Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 144-169. doi:10.1108/JOSM-09-2015-0291

Epuran, G., Ivasciuc, I. S., and Micu, A. (2015). <u>From 4P's to 4 E's–How to</u> <u>Avoid the Risk of Unbalancing the Marketing Mix in Today Hotel Businesses.</u>

Eizenberg, A. and Salvo, A., (2015) The rise of fringe competitors in the wake of an emerging middle class: An empirical analysis. <u>American Economic</u> <u>Journal: Applied Economics</u>, Vol. 7, No.3, pp.85-122.

Esmark, C. L., Noble, S. M., and Bell, J. E. (2016). Open versus selective customer loyalty programmes. <u>European Journal of Marketing</u>, Vol.50, No. 5/6, pp. 770-795. doi:10.1108/EJM-11-2014-0730

Euromonitor (2013). <u>Hilton Worldwide In Travel And Tourism (World),</u> [Online], Available http://blog.euromonitor.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/hilton-company-repo rt.pdf [Accessed on: 1st January, 2017]

Evanschitzky, H., Ramaseshan, B., Woisetschläger, D.M., Richelsen, V., Blut, M. and Backhaus, C. (2012). Consequences of customer loyalty to the loyalty program and to the company. <u>Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science</u>, Vol. 40, No. 5, pp.625-638.

Ferriswitt, 2015. Hallway smells like smoke and room is dirty, [Online], Available at; https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Fanning, S.M. and Ogle, A.W. (2014) <u>To'P'or not to'P': The Dilemma In</u> <u>Tourism And Hospitality Marketing.</u> Farah, M.F. and Fawaz, R.S. (2016). A Comparison of the Influence of Personal and Cultural Values on the Consumption of Luxury Goods across Arab Regions: Levant versus Gulf. <u>Contemporary Management Research</u>, Vol. 12, No. 2, p.139.

Fountain, D. (2016). Two New Doubletree by Hilton Hotels Open across the<br/>Uk, [online], Available at:<br/>http://hoteldesigns.net/industry-news/two-new-doubletree-by-hilton-hotels-ope<br/>n-across-the-uk/ [Accessed on: 1st March, 2017]

Fionda, A.M. and Moore, C.M., 2009. The anatomy of the luxury fashion brand. Journal of Brand Management, Vol.16, No. 5-6, pp.347-363.

Fraering, M., and S. Minor, M. (2013). Beyond loyalty: Customer satisfaction, loyalty, and fortitude. <u>Journal of Services Marketing</u>, Vol. 27, No. 4, pp. 334-344. doi:10.1108/08876041311330807

Garrido, R., 2014. <u>Average Hotel Rates for Hilton and Marriott brands</u>, [Online], Available at: http://loyaltytraveler.boardingarea.com/2014/07/15/average-hotel-rates-for-hilt on-and-marriott-brands/ [Accessed on: 1st January, 2017]

Gallo, C. (2012). <u>The apple experience: Secrets to building insanely great</u> <u>customer loyalty.</u> New York; London;: McGraw-Hill.

Graham, A., (2013). Understanding the low cost carrier and airport relationship: A critical analysis of the salient issues. <u>Tourism Management</u>, Vol. 36, pp.66-76.

Gray, D. E. (2013). Doing research in the real world. New York: Sage.

Gray, D., D'Alessandro, S. and Carter, L., (2016). <u>The Influence of Inertia on</u> <u>Brand Switching Behaviour. In Looking Forward, Looking Back: Drawing on</u> <u>the Past to Shape the Future of Marketing (pp. 779-787).</u> Springer International Publishing.

Greenwood, S.C. 2016. Pitssburg trip, [Online], Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Harrison-Walker, L.J. (2010). Customer prioritization in higher education: targeting 'right'students for long-term profitability. <u>Journal of Marketing for</u> <u>Higher Education</u>, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp.191-208.

Hollensen, S., (2015) <u>Marketing management: A relationship approach</u>. Pearson Education.

Hooley, G. J., Piercy, N. F., & Nicoulaud, B. (2011). <u>Marketing strategy and</u> <u>competitive positioning (5th ed.).</u> Harlow: Financial Times Prentice Hall.

Hoovers, (2016). <u>Doubletree plc Competition</u>, [Online], Available at; http://www.hoovers.com/company-information/cs/competition.doubletree\_llc.b deea71c0f9a0d07.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Hoovers, 2015. <u>Hilton Worldwide Holdings Inc. Competition</u>, [Online], Available http://www.hoovers.com/company-information/cs/competition.hilton\_worldwide \_holdings\_inc.5499ed9803407dd0.html [Accessed on: 1st January, 2017] Hnob, J. (2016). Best located hotel, , [Online] Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Hotel News Resource (2017).DoubleTree by Hilton Increases UK Presence with 12 Hotels Opened in 12 Months. [Online], Available at: https://www.hotelnewsresource.com/article93030.html [Accessed on: 1st March, 2017]

IBIS (2016). Hotels in the UK: Market Research Report, [Online], Available at: http://www.ibisworld.co.uk/market-research/hotels.html [Accessed on: 22nd November, 2016]

Kapferer, J.N. (2015). <u>Kapferer on luxury: How luxury brands can grow yet</u> <u>remain rare.</u>Kogan Page Publishers.

Kandampully, J., Zhang, T. and Bilgihan, A., (2015). Customer loyalty: a review and future directions with a special focus on the hospitality industry. <u>International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management</u>, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp.379-414.

Karmin, C., 2015. Hotel Operators Ready to Rumble Over Upgrades, <u>The Wall</u> <u>Street Journal</u>

Kim, H.S. and Yoon, C.H. (2004). Determinants of subscriber churn and customer loyalty in the Korean mobile telephony market. <u>Telecommunications</u> <u>policy</u>, Vol. 28, No. 9, pp.751-765.

Lim, Y. (2016). Brand management of hotel chains. <u>The Routledge Handbook</u> <u>of Hotel Chain Management</u>, p.221.

Lai, I.K.W. and Hitchcock, M. (2016). Sources of satisfaction with luxury hotels for new, repeat, and frequent travelers: A PLS impact-asymmetry analysis. <u>Tourism Management</u>, Vol. 60, pp.107-129.

Late Rooms, (n.d). <u>Reviews - DoubleTree by Hilton Hotel Dunblane Hydro,</u> [Online], Available at: https://www.laterooms.com/en/hotel-reviews/90461\_dunblane-hydro-dunblane -stirling.aspx#facilities [Accessed on: 29th January, 2017]

Lamb, C.W., Hair, J.F. and McDaniel, C. (2011). <u>Essentials of marketing.</u> Cengage Learning.

Lee, S.M., Lee, D. and Kang, C.Y. (2012). The impact of high-performance work systems in the health-care industry: employee reactions, service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer loyalty. <u>The Service Industries Journal</u>, Vol. 32, No. 1, pp.17-36.

Leonidou, L.C., Leonidou, C.N., Fotiadis, T.A. and Zeriti, A. (2013). Resources and capabilities as drivers of hotel environmental marketing strategy: Implications for competitive advantage and performance. <u>Tourism Management</u>, Vol. 35, pp.94-110.

Leonardo, 2015. <u>DoubleTree by Hilton Hotel Toronto Downtown: How This</u> <u>Award-Winning Hotel Marketer is Making a Name</u>, [Online], Available at: http://www.leonardo.com/case-studies/doubletree-by-hilton-hotel-toronto-down town/ [Accessed on: 1st January, 2017] Li, X., Wang, Y., & Yu, Y. (2015). Present and future hotel website marketing activities: Change propensity analysis. <u>International Journal of Hospitality</u> <u>Management</u>, Vol. 47, pp. 131-139.

Lin, C.T. and Wu, C.S. (2008) Selecting a marketing strategy for private hotels in Taiwan using the analytic hierarchy process. <u>The Service Industries</u> <u>Journal</u>, Vol. 28, No. 8, pp. 1077-1091.

Lonial, S. and Raju, P.S., (2015). Impact of service attributes on customer satisfaction and loyalty in a healthcare context. <u>Leadership in Health Services</u>, Vol. 28, No. 2, pp.149-166.

Lovelock, C.H., Wirtz, J. and Chew, P. (2009) Essentials of services marketing

Lovelock, C. (2011) <u>Services marketing: People, technology, strategy.</u> Pearson Education India.

Lovelock, C. (2011). <u>Services marketing: People, technology, strategy.</u> Pearson Education India.

MacInnis, D.J., Park, C.W. and Priester, J.W. (2014). <u>Handbook of brand</u> relationships. Routledge.

Martins Gonçalves, H., and Sampaio, P. (2012). The customer satisfaction?customer loyalty relationship: Reassessing customer and relational characteristics moderating effects. <u>Management Decision</u>, Vol. 50, No. 9, pp. 1509-1526. doi:10.1108/00251741211266660

Marshall, C., &Rossman, G. B. (2014). <u>Designing qualitative research.</u> New York: Sage Publications

Matthews, B., and Ross, L. (2014). <u>Research methods</u>. New Jersey: Pearson Higher Ed.

Michell, P., King, J. and Reast, J. (2001). Brand values related to industrial products. <u>Industrial marketing management</u>, Vol. 30, No. 5, pp.415-425.

Mitzi, D (2015). <u>Pengaruh physical quality, staff behavior, ideal self</u> <u>congruence, brand identification, dan lifestyle congruence terhadap customer</u> <u>satisfaction dan brand loyalty pada Starbucks Coffee di Surabaya (Doctoral</u> dissertation, Widya Mandala Catholic University Surabaya).

Morgan, N. A., Kaleka, A., and Katsikeas, C. S. (2004). Antecedents of export venture performance: A theoretical model and empirical assessment. <u>Journal of marketing</u>, Vol. 68, No. 1,pp. 90-108.

Moore, C.M. and Birtwistle, G., 2005. The nature of parenting advantage in luxury fashion retailing-the case of Gucci group NV. <u>International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management</u>, Vol.33, No. 4, pp.256-270.

Motclain, N.O., (2015). <u>Wedding Hotel</u>, [Online], Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Mucai, G.P., Mbaeh, E.K. and Noor, A.I. (2013) Extended Marketing Mix and Customer's Satisfaction in Classified Non-Star Hotels in Meru Municipality Kenya. <u>International Review of Management and Business Research</u>, Vol. 2, No. 3, p. 691.

Mullin, B.J., Hardy, S. and Sutton, W. (2014). <u>Sport Marketing</u> 4th Edition.Human Kinetics.

Nikitenko, T. (2014).DoubleTree Hotels on Facebook: Benchmarking fromFellow-brands.[Online],Availableat;https://www.truesocialmetrics.com/blog/hotels-on-facebook?locale=en\_US[Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

O'Cass, A. and Heirati, N., (2015). Mastering the complementarity between marketing mix and customer-focused capabilities to enhance new product performance. <u>Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing</u>, Vol. 30, No. 1, pp.60-71.

Okonkwo, U. (2009). The luxury brand strategy challenge. Journal of brand management, Vol.16, No. 5-6, p.287.

Okonkwo, U. (2016). <u>Luxury fashion branding: trends, tactics, techniques.</u> Springer.

Osman, H., Hemmington, N., & Bowie, D. (2009). A transactional approach to customer loyalty in the hotel industry. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, Vol. 21, No. 3, pp. 239-250.

Ou, Y.C., de Vries, L., Wiesel, T. and Verhoef, P.C. (2014). The role of consumer confidence in creating customer loyalty. <u>Journal of Service</u> <u>Research</u>, Vol. 17, No. 3, pp.339-354.

Patrick, V.M. and Hagtvedt, H. (2009). Luxury branding. <u>Handbook of Brand</u> <u>Relationships</u>, pp.267-280. Pigden, K., 2015. DoubleTree by Hilton plans to expand across the UK, [Online], Available at; https://www.thecaterer.com/articles/364145/doubletree-by-hilton-plans-to-expa nd-across-the-uk [Accessed on: 1st March, 2017]

Pranata, I. and Skinner, G., (2015) October. Segmenting and targeting <u>customers through clusters selection & analysis.</u> In 2015 International Conference on Advanced Computer Science and Information Systems (ICACSIS) (pp. 303-308). IEEE.

Phillips, B. (2016). <u>Customer Reviews: Amazing</u>, [Online], Available at: https://www.laterooms.com/en/hotel-reviews/90461\_dunblane-hydro-dunblane -stirling.aspx#info [Accessed on: 29th January, 2017]

PODI, (2015).DoubleTree by Hilton Supports Properties with MarketingResourceCenter,[Online],Availableat:http://www.msp-pgh.com/assets/blueskyeto\_casestudy\_podi\_doubletreehilton.pdf [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Rahimi, R., and Gunlu, E. (2016). Implementing customer relationship management (CRM) in hotel industry from organizational culture perspective: Case of a chain hotel in the

UK.<u>International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management</u>, Vol. 28, No. 1, pp. 89-112. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-04-2014-0176

Rothaermel, F.T., (2015). Strategic management. McGraw-Hill.

Rust, R.T., Lemon, K.N. and Zeithaml, V.A., (2004). Return on marketing: Using customer equity to focus marketing strategy. <u>Journal of marketing</u>, Vol. 68, No. 1, pp.109-127.

Saker-Clark, H. (2016).Hull's swanky new DoubleTree by Hilton hotel revealed in artists' impressions, Available at: http://www.hulldailymail.co.uk/hull-s-swanky-new-doubletree-by-hilton-hotel-re vealed-in-artists-impressions/story-29840519-detail/story.html#3dJclXAS6oJE hsHO.99

Seaton, A.V. and Bennett, M.M. (1996) <u>The marketing of tourism products:</u> <u>Concepts, issues and cases.</u> Cengage Learning EMEA.

Seidman, I. (2013). <u>Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for</u> <u>researchers in education and the social sciences</u>. NewYork: Teachers college press.

Seo, Y. and Buchanan-Oliver, M., (2015). Luxury branding: the industry, trends, and future conceptualisations. <u>Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics</u>, Vol. 27, No. 1, pp.82-98.

Selnes, F. (2013). An examination of the effect of product performance on brand reputation, satisfaction and loyalty. <u>Journal of Product & Brand</u> <u>Management</u>, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 189-96

Shetty, N., 2010. <u>Marketing Strategy of Doubletree Corporation</u>, [Online], Available at: http://www.managementparadise.com/forums/marketing-management/211220 -marketing-strategy-doubletree-corporation.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Silverman, D. (2013). <u>Doing qualitative research: A practical handbook.</u> New York City: Sage Publications Limited.

Srinivasan, S.S., Anderson, R. and Ponnavolu, K. (2002). Customer loyalty in e-commerce: an exploration of its antecedents and consequences. <u>Journal of retailing</u>, Vol. 78, No. 1, pp.41-50.

Sukamto, R. and Lumintan, D., (2015). The Impact of Marketing Mix towards Customer Loyalty Mediated by Customer Satisfaction of Blackberry Indonesia. <u>iBuss Management</u>, Vol.3, No.2, pp.78-87

Stepchenkova, S. (2015) People, partnerships, packaging, and programming: 4Ps to success: a portrait of Alastair Morrison. <u>Anatolia</u>, Vol. 26, No. 1, pp.129-136.

Tanford, S. and Baloglu, S. (2013). Applying the loyalty matrix to evaluate casino loyalty programs. <u>Cornell Hospitality Quarterly</u>, Vol. 54, No. 4, pp.333-346.

Tasci, A.D (2016). A quest for destination loyalty by profiling loyal travelers. <u>Journal of Destination Marketing & Management.</u> Vol. 8, No. 10, pp. 89-97

Thanh, T.V., Coulon, M., Gursoy, D., Yolal, M. and Lee, T., (2015). <u>Evaluation of French luxury hotels by UK leisure travelers: an online reviews analysis.</u> In The 5th Advances in Hospitality & Tourism Marketing and Management (AHTMM) Conference, Beppu, Japan, 18-21 June 2015. (pp. 381-389). Washington State University.

Toik, 2016, Experience at Double Tree, [Online], Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Trip Advisor, 2016. Travellers Rating, [Online], Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Truong, Y., Simmons, G., McColl, R. and Kitchen, P.J., 2008. Status and conspicuousness–are they related? Strategic marketing implications for luxury brands. Journal of Strategic Marketing, Vol.16, No. 3, pp.189-203.

Tynan, C., McKechnie, S. and Chhuon, C. (2010). Co-creating value for luxury brands. <u>Journal of Business Research, Vol.</u> 63, No. 11, pp.1156-1163.

Uncles, M.D., Dowling, G.R. and Hammond, K. (2003). Customer loyalty and customer loyalty programs. <u>Journal of consumer marketing</u>, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp.294-316.

Ujohnm, 2016. Nice place to stay but not worth the cost, [Online], Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Visit Bristol (2016). DoubleTree by Hilton Expands UK Portfolio with DoubleTree by Hilton Bristol North, [Online], Available at: http://visitbristol.co.uk/destinationbristol/information/news/2016/11/11/doubletr ee-by-hilton-expands-uk-portfolio-with-doubletree-by-hilton-bristol-north-a3173 [Accessed on: 1st March, 2017]

Wahab, N.A., Hassan, L.F.A., Shahid, S.A.M. and Maon, S.N., (2016). The Relationship Between Marketing Mix And Customer Loyalty In Hijab Industry:

The Mediating Effect Of Customer Satisfaction. <u>Procedia Economics and</u> <u>Finance</u>, Vol. 37, pp.366-371.

Walker, O.C., Mullins, J.W., Boyd, H.W. and Larreche, J.L. (2010) <u>Marketing</u> <u>strategy.</u> McGraw-Hill Education.

Walsman, M., Dixon, M., Rush, R. and Verma, R. (2014). <u>It's More than Just a</u> <u>Game: The</u>

Effect of Core and Supplementary Services on Customer Loyalty. [Online], Available http://calhoun.nps.edu/bitstream/handle/10945/45975/Dixon\_It's\_More\_than\_J ust\_a\_Game\_2014.pdf?sequence=4 [Accessed on: 1st January, 2017]

Wang, M. (2015). Linking service climate to customer loyalty. <u>The Service</u> <u>Industries</u> Journal, Vol.35, No. 7-8, pp. 403-12. doi:10.1080/02642069.2015.1015518

Wieseke, J., Alavi, S. and Habel, J. (2014). Willing to pay more, eager to pay less: The role of customer loyalty in price negotiations. <u>Journal of Marketing</u>, 78(6), pp.17-37.

William, (2016). <u>'Bad Stay'</u>, [Online] Available at: https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletr ee\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html [Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Wjohnb,2016.StayatDoubleTree,https://www.tripadvisor.com/Hotel\_Review-g60763-d93466-Reviews-Doubletree\_Hotel\_Metropolitan\_New\_York\_City-New\_York\_City\_New\_York.html[Accessed on: 31st December, 2016]

Wishart, M. (2015). <u>Customer Reviews: Failed to meet expectations</u>, [Online], Available https://www.laterooms.com/en/hotel-reviews/90461\_dunblane-hydro-dunblane -stirling.aspx#info [Accessed on: 29th January, 2017]

Wu, C.H., Kao, S.C., Su, Y.Y. and Wu, C.C., (2005). Targeting customers via discovery knowledge for the insurance industry. <u>Expert Systems with</u> <u>Applications</u>, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp.291-299.

Zakaria, I., Rahman, B.A., Othman, A.K., Yunus, N.A.M., Dzulkipli, M.R. and Osman, M.A.F., (2014). The Relationship between Loyalty Program, Customer Satisfaction and Customer Loyalty in Retail Industry: A Case Study. <u>Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences</u>, 129, pp.23-30.

Zikmund, W.G., Babin, B.J., Carr, J.C. and Griffin, M. (2013). <u>Business</u> research methods. Cengage Learning.

Zhang, Y. and Pan, W., (2015) Principal component regression and linear mixed model in association analysis of structured samples: competitors or complements?. <u>Genetic epidemiology</u>, Vol. 39, No. 3, pp.149-155.